
Page 1 

 

 
 
 

AGENDA  
 
Meeting: Western Area Planning Committee 

Place: Council Chamber - County Hall, Trowbridge BA14 8JN 

Date: Wednesday 3 April 2019 

Time: 3.00 pm 

 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Jessica Croman, of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718262 or email 
jessica.croman@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

 
Membership: 
 

Cllr Christopher Newbury (Chairman) 
Cllr Jonathon Seed (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Phil Alford 
Cllr Trevor Carbin 
Cllr Ernie Clark 
Cllr Andrew Davis 

Cllr Peter Fuller 
Cllr Sarah Gibson 
Cllr Edward Kirk 
Cllr Stewart Palmen 
Cllr Pip Ridout 

 

 
Substitutes: 
 

Cllr David Halik 
Cllr Deborah Halik 
Cllr Russell Hawker 
Cllr George Jeans 
Cllr David Jenkins 
Cllr Gordon King 

 

 

Cllr Jim Lynch 
Cllr Steve Oldrieve 
Cllr Roy While 
Cllr Jerry Wickham 
Cllr Graham Wright 

 

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


Page 2 

 

Recording and Broadcasting Information 
 
Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the 

Council’s website at http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv.  At the start of the meeting, the 

Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being recorded. The images and 

sound recordings may also be used for training purposes within the Council. 

 

By entering the meeting room you are consenting to being recorded and to the use of 

those images and recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes. 

 

The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public. 

  

Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 

Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting 

from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they 

accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in 

relation to any such claims or liabilities. 

 

Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 

available on request. 

Parking 
 

To find car parks by area follow this link. The three Wiltshire Council Hubs where most 
meetings will be held are as follows: 
 
County Hall, Trowbridge 
Bourne Hill, Salisbury 
Monkton Park, Chippenham 
 
County Hall and Monkton Park have some limited visitor parking. Please note for 
meetings at County Hall you will need to log your car’s registration details upon your 
arrival in reception using the tablet provided. If you may be attending a meeting for more 
than 2 hours, please provide your registration details to the Democratic Services Officer, 
who will arrange for your stay to be extended. 
 

Public Participation 
 

Please see the agenda list on following pages for details of deadlines for submission of 
questions and statements for this meeting. 
 
For extended details on meeting procedure, submission and scope of questions and 
other matters, please consult Part 4 of the council’s constitution. 
 
The full constitution can be found at this link.  
 
For assistance on these and other matters please contact the officer named above for 

details 

http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv/
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/parkingtransportandstreets/carparking/findacarpark.htm?area=Trowbridge
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD1629&ID=1629&RPID=12066789&sch=doc&cat=13959&path=13959
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1392&MId=10753&Ver=4


Page 3 

 

AGENDA 

 

 Part I  

 Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public 

 

1   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting. 

 

2   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 10) 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 6 
March 2019. 

 

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee. 

 

4   Chairman's Announcements  

 To receive any announcements through the Chair. 

 

5   Public Participation  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. 
 
Statements 
Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an 
application or any other item on this agenda are asked to register by phone, 
email or in person no later than 2.50pm on the day of the meeting. 
 
The rules on public participation in respect of planning applications are detailed 
in the Council’s Planning Code of Good Practice. The Chairman will allow up to 
3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against an application and up to 3 
speakers on any other item on this agenda. Each speaker will be given up to 3 
minutes and invited to speak immediately prior to the item being considered.  
 
Members of the public will have had the opportunity to make representations on 
the planning applications and to contact and lobby their local member and any 
other members of the planning committee prior to the meeting. Lobbying once 
the debate has started at the meeting is not permitted, including the circulation 
of new information, written or photographic which have not been verified by 
planning officers. 
 



Page 4 

 

Questions  
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council 
received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular, 
questions on non-determined planning applications.  
 
Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such 
questions in writing to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later than 
5pm on (4 clear working days, e.g. Wednesday of week before a 
Wednesday meeting) in order to be guaranteed of a written response. In order 
to receive a verbal response questions must be submitted no later than 5pm on 
(2 clear working days, eg Friday of week before a Wednesday meeting). 
Please contact the officer named on the front of this agenda for further advice. 
Questions may be asked without notice if the Chairman decides that the matter 
is urgent. 
 
Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior 
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website. 

 

6   Planning Appeals and Updates (Pages 11 - 12) 

 To receive details of completed and pending appeals and other updates as 
appropriate. 

 

7   Planning Applications  

 To consider and determine the following planning application. 

 

 7a   18-11871-FUL - Oxford House, 12 The Butts, Bratton (Pages 13 - 
64) 

 

8   Urgent Items  

 Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 
taken as a matter of urgency. 

 

 Part II  

 Item during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be 
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed 



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
MINUTES OF THE WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD 
ON 6 MARCH 2019 AT COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNTY HALL, TROWBRIDGE 
BA14 8JN. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Christopher Newbury (Chairman), Cllr Trevor Carbin, Cllr Ernie Clark, 
Cllr Andrew Davis, Cllr Peter Fuller, Cllr Sarah Gibson, Cllr Edward Kirk, 
Cllr Stewart Palmen and Cllr Roy While (Substitute) 
 
Also  Present: 
Cllr Tony Jackson 
 
  

 
1 Apologies 

 
Apologies for absence were received from: 
 
Cllr Jonathon Seed 
 
Cllr Pip Ridout who was substituted by Cllr Roy While 
 

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 12 December 2018 were presented. 
 
Resolved: 
 
To approve as a correct record and sign the minutes of the meeting held 
on 12 December 2018. 
 

3 Declarations of Interest 
 
Cllr Ernie Clark, relating to item 8, clarified his involvement, noting that he was 
not one of the organisers of the application but had responded to the applicants 
as a member of the public. He had not pre-determined his thoughts on the 
application and would approach with an open mind.  
 
Cllr Clark referred to section 25 of the Localism Act 2011, noting that he had 
potentially given a prior indication of a view on the application. However a prior 
indication did not amount to pre-determination or bias but a pre-disposition. 
Reference was made to section 25(2) highlighting that, it was clear that a 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
 
 

 
 
 

decision maker should not be taken to have had a closed mind when making a 
decision, because the decision maker had indicated a view they had taken, or 
may take, in relation to a matter and the matter was relevant to the decision.  
 
Cllr Edward Kirk declared an interest in item 8 and excluded himself from the 
debate and voting.     
 

4 Chairman's Announcements 
 
There were no Chairman’s Announcements. 
 
The Chairman gave details of the exits to be used in the event of an 
emergency. 
 

5 Public Participation 
 
A late question had been received from Cllr Trevor Carbin which read: 
 
Have any comments been received from town and parish councils about the 
recent changes to the weekly lists of applications and decisions? 
 
An officers response had been prepared which read: 
 
With the change in format of weekly lists, we have received 14 positive 
comments and 13 negative comments. 
 
Of the negative comments, 4 were from Parishes (West Tisbury, Wilsford Cum 
Lake, Buttermere and Alediston) but these were more comments and questions 
than complaints. 
 
Of the positive comments, 6 were from Parishes (Nettleton, Quidhampton, 
Steeple Ashton, Hullavington, Atworth, and Cllr Bucknell representing 
Lyneham). 
 
Cllr Carbin had the opportunity to respond and it was noted that Holt PC were  
not happy with the change as it inconvenient for parishes. 
 
Following this the Chairman welcomed all present. He then explained the rules 
of public participation and the procedure to be followed at the meeting. 
 

6 Planning Appeals and Updates 
 
Public Participation 
Francis Morland spoke on the appeals report 
 
The Planning Appeals Update Report for 30/11/2018 and 22/02/2019 was 
received. 
 
The Area Team Leader, in response to points and criticisms raised during the 
public forum, noted the criticisms levelled at the Council and the planning 

Page 6



 
 
 

 
 
 

inspectorate and advised that the asserted failings pursuant to publishing and 
sharing relevant documents timeously for the cited planning enforcement 
appeal, would be passed on to the relevant officers to investigate. In response 
to a separate appeal, and the criticisms levelled at the Council and planning 
inspector for not pursuing the concerns of the Parish Council, the officer 
advised that it was for the appointed inspector to determine what weight to 
afford to the representations provided by consultees and third parties.  
 
Cllr Ernie Clark then asked the officer how long appeals generally take and 
there was a brief discussion about the timescales for different appeals.  The 
elected members were also briefly informed of the recent Rosewell Report.   
 
Resolved: 
 
To note the Planning Appeals Update Report for 30/11/2018 and 
22/02/2019. 
 

7 Planning Applications 
 
Steve Sims, Senior Planning Officer, introduced the report, which had been 
recommended for approval, subject to conditions, for a renewal of temporary 
planning permission for a single mobile at Holt Pre School. 
 
Key issues included; Impact upon the Character and Appearance of the Area; 
Impact upon the Living Conditions of Neighbouring Residents and Highway 
Issues. 
 
Members of the Committee had the opportunity to ask technical questions of the 
officer. Details were sought on: Why the application kept returning for temporary 
planning permission rather than permanent permission and whether the 
occupiers were a private company or part of the school. 
 
The Officer, in response to the questions noted that; although it was not best 
practice to continually return for temporary planning permission, it was 
acceptable; and that he was unaware whether the nursery operated as a private 
entity or as part of the school. 
 
There were no members of the public registered to speak on the application. 
 
Local Member, Cllr Carbin moved the officers recommendation with an 
additional informative, following advice provided by the area team leader, to 
encourage the applicant to plan for a more permanent solution prior to 2024. 
The motion was seconded by Cllr Andrew Davis. 
 
At the end of the debate it was; 
 
RESOLVED 
 
To approve temporary planning permission subject to the following 
conditions: 

Page 7



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following approved plans:  Location plan scale 
1:1250; Plans and elevations scale 1:100 dwg no. 1237/59 Rev O. 
 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning 
. 
2. The pre-school classroom is hereby approved on a temporary basis 
and shall be removed from the site and the land restored to grass on or 
before 6 March 2024.  
 
REASON: To define the terms of the planning permission. 
 
 
Planning Informative: 
 
1. The pre-school nursery and the local authority pre-school coordinator 
are duly encouraged to take notice of the registered third party concern 
relative to noise levels pursuant to the use of the lane by children; and, to 
ensure there is appropriate supervision of children to quell noise levels 
mindful of the proximity to neighbouring residential properties and to 
safeguard privacy and amenities. 
 
2. This consent represents a second renewal of planning permission for 
the temporary structure; and, in the interests of good planning; the 
applicant is strongly encouraged to plan for a more permanent solution 
prior to 2024.    Should an additional renewal application be lodged prior 
to 2024 to retain the mobile classroom, any such application should be 
supported by substantive evidence setting the steps that have been taken 
to deliver a permanent development and a justification explaining why a 
subsequent renewal is necessary and appropriate. 
 

8 Application to Register Land as a Town or Village Green - Church Field, 
Hilperton 
 
Public Participation 
Dave Powell, Agent, spoke in objection to the application 
Elizabeth Pike spoke in objection to the application 
Heidi Hart spoke in support of the application 
Nicola Walker Westwood spoke in support of the application 
Graham Kehily spoke in support of the application 
Marylyn Timms, Clerk to Hilperton Parish Council, spoke on behalf of the Parish 
Council 
 
Sally Madgwick, Definitive Map & Highways Records Team Leader for Rights of 
Way and & Countryside, introduced the report which sought approval to appoint 
an independent Inspector to hold a non-statutory Public Inquiry and provide an 
advisory report for the Western Area Planning Committee on the application to 
register land as a town or village green at Church Field, Hilperton. 

Page 8



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Members of the Committee had the opportunity to ask technical questions of the 
officer, of which there were none.  
 
Members of the public, as detailed above, had the opportunity to speak on the 
application. 
 
Local Member, Cllr Ernie Clark, spoke on the application, noting that a public 
inquiry would be the best way forward. Following this Cllr Ernie Clark moved the 
officers recommendation, which was seconded by Cllr Stewart Palmen. 
 
At the end of the debate it was; 
 
RESOLVED 
 
The Committee agreed for Wiltshire Council to appoint an independent 
Inspector to hold a non-statutory Public Inquiry and provide an advisory 
report for the Western Area Planning Committee on the application to 
register land as a town or village green at Church Field, Hilperton. 
 

9 Urgent Items 
 
There were no Urgent Items. 

 
(Duration of meeting:  3.00  - 4.05 pm) 

 
 
 

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Jessica Croman of Democratic 
Services, direct line 01225 718262, e-mail jessica.croman@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 
Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Wiltshire Council 
Western Area Planning Committee 

3rd April 2019 
 

There are no Planning Appeals Received between 22/02/2019 and 22/03/2019 
 
Planning Appeals Decided between 22/02/2019 and 22/03/2019 
Application No Site Location Parish Proposal DEL 

or 
COMM 

Appeal Type Officer 
Recommend 

Appeal 
Decision 

Decision 
Date 

Costs 
Awarded? 

17/01251/ENF Willowmead Stables, 
Lower Westbury Road, 
Bratton, Westbury 

BRATTON Mobile home being used as 
permanent residence 

DEL Written Reps 
 

- Dismissed 25/02/2019 None 

17/10530/FUL 
 

The Prince of Wales Inn 
High Street, Dilton Marsh 
BA13 4DZ 

DILTON MARSH 
 

Erection of a detached 
dwelling with alterations to the 
existing car park and entrance 
way 

DEL Written Reps 
 

Refuse Allowed 
with 

Conditions 

28/02/2019 
 

None 

18/02867/VAR 
 

Land at Common Hill 
Bleet, Steeple Ashton 
Wiltshire, BA14 6EA 

STEEPLE 
ASHTON 
 

Removal of condition 5 of 
planning permission 
16/09052/FUL to allow stables 
and haybarn to be converted 
into a dwelling instead of a 
holiday let 

DEL Written Reps 
 

Refuse Allowed 
with 

Conditions 

05/03/2019 
 

Appellant 
Applied for 
Costs - 
ALLOWED 

18/05825/FUL 
 

Wren Farm 
Hoggington Lane 
Southwick, Wiltshire 

SOUTHWICK 
 

Demolition of poultry sheds 
and associated agricultural 
buildings and erection of 3 
dwellings with access, parking, 
garaging and landscaping 

DEL Written Reps 
 

Refuse Dismissed 05/03/2019 
 

None 

 
 

P
age 11

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

REPORT FOR WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE              Report No. 

Date of Meeting 3 April 2019 

Application Number 18/11871/FUL 

Site Address Oxford House, No.12 The Butts, Bratton BA13 4SW 

Proposal Demolition of existing dwelling & erection of replacement dwelling 
& 3 new dwellings with associated landscaping (Resubmission of 
18/08346/FUL) 

Applicant Mr Simon Ellinger 

Town/Parish Council BRATTON 

Electoral Division Ethandune ED – Cllr Jerry Wickham 

Grid Ref 391443  152194 

Type of application Full Planning 

Case Officer  Steven Sims 

 
Reason for the application being considered by Committee  
Councillor Jerry Wickham has requested that this application be called-in for the elected 
members of the western area planning committee to determine should officers be minded to 
support the permission to allow members to fully appraise the following key matters: 
 

 The Scale of Development 

 The Visual impact upon the Surrounding Area 

 The Relationship to Adjoining Properties 

 The Design of the Proposed Development - Bulk, Height & General Appearance 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of the 
development plan and other material considerations and to consider the recommendation that 
the application be approved. 

 
2. Report Summary 
 
The main issues to consider for this application are considered to be: 

 The Principle of Development 

 Impact on the Character of the Conservation Area/Nearby Listed Building 

 Impact on the Living Conditions of Neighbouring Residents 

 Ecology Issues 

 Impact on Trees and Landscape Impacts 

 Parking/Highway Safety Impacts 

 Other Issues 
 
3. Site Description 
 
The application site forms part of the residential curtilage to Oxford House at No. 12 the Butts 
which extends to some 0.3 hectares located within the settlement limits of Bratton and the 
Conservation Area. The 2 storey dwelling that previously occupied the site has been 
demolished (following the implementation of consented application 17/07736/FUL). 
 
The site is served by a vehicular access off the Butts in the north westernmost part of the site, 
positioned adjacent to the access that serves the neighbouring coach house property at No. 
10a The Butts. Located to the north and hatched on the insert map reproduced on the next 
page, is the Grade II listed Mulberry House property at No. 10 the Butts which dates from circa 
1830. A Tree Preservation Order granted under W/09/00039/GRP is in place protecting a 

Page 13

Agenda Item 7a



 

 

group of trees positioned along and near the site boundary with Reeves Piece. The site is 
located within flood zone 1 – land with the lowest risk of pluvial/fluvial flooding.  
 
The following map shows the location of the listed building and the trees that subject to a 
TPO. 

 
 
To the south east of the application site is a development of 5 detached properties on land 
that previously formed part of the historic curtilage associated to No. 12 the Butts. These 
properties are have a suburban characteristic and form part of designated conservation area. 
The properties located to the south and west comprise a mix including the non-designated 
heritage asset at The Oratory and mid-twentieth century housing on the opposite side of the 
Butts.  
 
4. Planning History 
 
18/08346/FUL – Demolition of existing dwelling & erection of replacement dwelling & 3 new 
dwellings with associated landscaping – Refused 23 November 2018, with an appeal 
currently in progress. 
 
The application was refused for the following reason: 
 
1. The proposed development, by virtue of the siting of dwellings on plots 3 and 4, would 
result in overdevelopment of the site and erode the open spacious character of the area 
which would have an adverse impact on the setting of the listed building at 10 The Butts and 
an adverse impact on the character of the Bratton Conservation Area. The scheme would 
therefore cause less than substantial harm to the character and setting of the heritage assets 
which is not outweighed by any public benefit. The proposed development is therefore 
contrary to Core Policies 57 and 58 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy and section 16 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

Page 14



 

 

18/05492/VAR - Variation of condition 2 on 17/07736/FUL to allow for changes to the design 
of the proposed houses - Approved 17 August 2018 
 
18/02524/TPO - T1 - T32 - Various Works as per schedule – Approved 17 April 2018 
 
18/01008/ENF - Breach of 18/05492VAR and 18/08346/FUL – No breach found 20 
December 2018 
 
18/00955/ENF - Possible breach of planning 18/08346/FUL – No breach 29 October 2018 
 
18/00475/ENF - Breach of conditions 17/07736/FUL – No breach 7 June 2018 
 
17/07747/106 - Modification of existing S106 relating to planning permission W/92/00081 to 
remove land originally included on original application – Approved 28 September 2018 
 
17/07736/FUL – Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 3 new dwellings with 
associated works including creation of a new vehicular access and landscaping. – Approved 
13 April 2018.  The approved site plan for the consented scheme is shown below. 
 

 
 
W/13/00346/TCA – Crown reduce and reshape Sycamore Tree by 30% and crown lift to 4m – 
Approved 4 April 2013 
 
The following application is considered of material interests also as it relates to land to the 
immediate south of the application site: 
 
W/92/00081/FUL – Erection of four detached chalets each with a detached double garage – 
Approved 23 December 1992 
 
5. The Proposal 
 
This detailed planning application seeks consent to erect four dwellings – two detached and 
two forming part of a semi-detached pair, along with garaging with three of the units being 

Page 15



 

 

served by a new vehicular access formed following the demolition of a dwelling (the latter of 
which has already been implemented following the planning permission granted under 
17/07736/FUL).  The dwelling for plot 2 would have its own vehicular access served off the 
Butts. The plan below illustrates the proposed development for the site which requires 
member determination.   

 
 
The proposal for Plot 1 comprises the erection of a 1½ storey property providing 4 bedrooms 
including one at ground floor level designed for ‘lifetime living’. The property would have 
garaging at the rear. This element of the scheme is the same as that approved under 
application 18/05492/VAR. 
 
The dwelling on Plot 2 would be a 2-storey property designed to reflect the vernacular of the 
previous building on the site (now demolished). Materials would be red brick with a natural 
state roof. The building would front onto the Butts set back behind a front garden which would 
be landscaped to provide a new access, hard standing for parking and turning and appropriate 
visibility splays. The dwelling would provide a 4-bedroom home. This element of the scheme 
is also the same as that approved under application 18/05492/VAR. 
 
Two residential units would be provided by Plots 3 and 4 within the eastern part of the 
site and adjacent to No. 4 Reeves Piece. The plots (along with plot 1) would be served 
by a private access drive and would connect with the Butts. Plots 3 and 4 would be 4-
bed semidetached dwellings constructed in rustic red brick under a natural slate roof. 
Through negotiation the application was amended to revise the area of hardstanding to 
be used for car parking for plot 3 and the erection of a detached timber clad garage and 
associated works. 
 
6. Local Planning Policy 
Local Context: The Adopted Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS) policies - CP1, CP2, CP3, CP32, 
CP41, CP45, CP50, CP51, CP57, CP58, CP60, CP61, CP62, CP64, CP67 and appendix D’s 
‘saved’ policy U1a of the West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration (2004). 

Page 16



 

 

 
Wiltshire Local Transport Plan 2011-2026 Car Parking Strategy 
 
National Context: National Planning Policy Framework (The Framework) and Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG) 
 
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed building and Conservation area) Act 1990 which states that 
the local planning authority:  has a duty to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving 
the building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses; and 
 
Section 72 of the Planning (Listed building and Conservation area) Act 1990 w2hich states 
that the local planning authority: has a duty to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving and enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area. 

 
7. Summary of Consultation Responses 
 
Bratton Parish Council: Objects and stated that it is extremely disappointed that a new 
application has been submitted for four houses on this site.   The Parish Council objects on 
the following grounds:  
 

 Over development of the site - the Council considers this site within the Conservation 
Area is being over-developed with inappropriate houses with just three houses. 

 Detrimental impact on local amenity - the development would have a detrimental 
impact on the amenity and access of existing neighbours. 

 Traffic generation –the development would generate a significant amount of additional 
traffic in already congested and narrow lanes and would represent a health and safety 
risk on the highway.   

 Vehicular access –the increase in traffic would prove problematic given the access 
onto the B3098 and the narrow lanes leading into the development. 

 
Wiltshire Council’s Conservation Officer: No objection to amended scheme 
 
Wiltshire Council’s Archaeologist: No objection. 
 
Wiltshire Council’s Arboricultural Officer: No objection 
 
Wiltshire Council’s Ecologist: No comments 
 
Wiltshire Council’s Drainage Officer: No objection subject to a condition relating to storm water 
 
Wessex Water: No objection 

 
8. Publicity 
 
The application was publicised by the display of site notices and individually posted 
notification letters sent to neighbouring/properties within close proximity of the site. As a result 
of this publicity, 12 letters of objection were received with the following summary setting out 
the grounds of concern: 
 

 Poor design that would be overdeveloped of the site that would not be sustainable; 

 Minimal economic benefit and the properties would not likely help local housing need - 
None of the proposed properties would be affordable; 

Page 17



 

 

 The design of the property plot 3 would be out of character with the area and would 
have an overbearing impact and loss of daylight/ impacts on privacy; 

 The development would have a negative impact on the living conditions of adjacent 
residents; 

 The position of the back corner of Plot 3’s proposed garage would be tight up against the 
boundary with Mulberry House making it difficult for the future owners to maintain both 
sides of the hedge; 

 The proposed roof height of the Plot 3 and 4 properties would be considerably higher than 
No.4 Reeves Piece - creating an unwelcome and overpowering aspect to the residents; 

 Traffic and highway issues in particular on The Butts which has a lack of pavements; 

 Concerns about accessibility of emergency vehicles, poor access and increased traffic 
generation and lack of visitor parking provision; 

 Inadequate public transport links; 

 The development would not preserve the natural environment and would result in the loss 
of verdant character of the site and negatively impact on bird and wildlife population; 

 Objection to the loss of the Ash tree; 

 The development would not help meet surplus primary school places 

 Concern regarding facilities for workmen on site 

 Lack of detail on submitted plans 

 Object to the use of UPVC 

 Works on site have already commenced 

 Potential damage to historic verges 

 There are Boundary Disputes  
 
9. Planning Considerations 
Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and section 38(6) of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require that the determination of planning applications 
must be made in accordance with the Development Plan, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 
 
9.1 The Principle of Development - The site lies within the settlement boundary of Bratton. 
Core Policy 1 and Core Policy 32 define Bratton as a Large Village with designated limits of 
development; and as set out by Core Policy 2, “within the limits of development… there is a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development”. Within paragraph 4.15, the adopted WCS 
states that within the defined settlement limits of large villages, to support the adopted 
settlement and delivery strategies, housing development should be limited to small housing 
sites involving fewer than 10 dwellings (i.e. not constitute as major development).  
 
9.1.2 In this particular case, the 0.3 hectare site benefits from extant planning permission for 
a replacement dwelling and 2 additional dwellings (granted under ref: 17/07736/FUL and 
materially revised by consented application ref: 18/05492/VAR).  Works to implement the said 
variation application have already commenced following the discharge of the suspensive 
planning conditions and the demolition of the former dwelling.  
 
9.1.3 In accordance with adopted WCS Core Policy 43, by virtue of the development 
comprising less than 5 dwellings, there is no affordable housing provision or contribution 
justification.  
 
9.1.4 The principle of development has therefore been established and the scheme complies 
with Core Policies 1, 2 and 32 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy.  
 
9.2 Impact on the Character of the Conservation Area/Adjacent Listed Building: Section 72 of 
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires that in the exercise 
of any functions, with respect to any buildings or other land in a conservation area, special 

Page 18



 

 

attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of that area. The 2019 iteration of the NPPF advises that heritage assets are an 
irreplaceable resource and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. 
Paragraph 193 of the Framework states that when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight (emphasis 
added) should be given to the asset’s conservation. In line with the aforesaid over-arching 
requirements, Core Policy 58 of the adopted Wiltshire Core Strategy requires development to 
protect, conserve and where possible enhance the historic environment. 
 
9.2.1 The application site is located within the designated conservation area of Bratton, it is 
located immediately to the south of the Grade II listed property located at Mulberry House at 
No. 10 the Butts and is within the wider setting of this listed building. The site also forms part 
of the wider setting to the non-designated heritage asset at the Oratory which is located to the 
south.  
 
9.2.2 The character of the conservation area around the site is one of mainly detached 
properties in plots of varying sizes. To the east of the site, there is a mix of one and two storey 
dwellings occupying medium sized plots.  The properties found to the north, west and south 
tend to have larger gardens set in more spacious plots. Historic mapping records for the site 
indicate that the application site was previously allotment gardens as the epoch map 
reproduced below for this part of the village in the mid-20th Century reveals. 
 
9.2.3 No further analysis can be reasonably undertaken pursuant to the former dwelling at 
Oxford House, No. 12 The Butts now that it has been demolished in accordance with the 
approved details submitted under application 17/07736/FUL and varied by application 
18/05492/VAR. 

 
9.2.4 The design of the proposed 
dwellings on plots 1 and 2 are the same 
as the approved scheme 17/07736/FUL, 
and varied by 18/05492/VAR) and 
following the lawful material 
commencement of works, the principle of 
erecting the 2 dwellings on plots 1 and 2 
is firmly established and it would be 
entirely unreasonable to consider the 
planning merits afresh. As previously 
argued, the impact of these dwellings on 
the character of the conservation area, 
the nearby listed building and non-
designated heritage asset, would be 
acceptable in planning terms. The design, 
scale, bulk and proposed use of materials 
were and remain acceptable and the 

Council’s Conservation Officer has maintained his position in having no objections. The 
delegated report for consented application 17/07736/FUL and 18/05492/VAR are contained 
within Appendix A at the end of this report.  In approving application 18/05492/VAR, officers 
argued that: 
 
 “The elevation approach on plot 1 is to employ a traditional and simple form that may have 
reflected an ancillary rural type building. The approach on plot 2 was to try and reflect the 
existing dwelling. The proposals are considered to satisfactorily address the street scene by 
employing sympathetic scale and massing and reflecting a village vernacular. This is achieved 
at plot 1 with its simple linear frontage; and on plot 2 by applying style and proportions 
consistent with the existing dwelling on site”. 

Map Epoch ca1950s 

Page 19



 

 

 
9.2.5 As far as Plots 3 and 4 are concerned, the applicant proposes to provide two 4-bed 
dwellings using the same footprint and building height of the dwellinghouse approved under 
applications 17/07736/FUL and 18/05492/VAR – as the house type elevation inserts 
reproduced below reveal. The height, scale and bulk of the building and the construction 
materials would remain as rustic red brick with a natural slated roof.  The design would only 
marginally change - all of which officers (previously and continue) to support. 

 

 
 
 
9.2.6 As the insert plan below left illustrates (compared to the previous consented plot 3 site 
plan – below right), this application also seeks to vary the on-site area of hardstanding for the 
parking of private motor vehicles for plot 3 in addition to the erection of a detached timber clad 
garage with additional hardstanding for plot 4. The Conservation Officer has no objections to 
report on these material amendments and instead argues that the development would have no 
adverse impact on the character of the conservation area or to the wider setting of the nearby 
listed building or non-designated heritage asset. 
 

Front (south facing) elevation of 
proposed 18/11871/FUL application 

 

Front (south facing) elevation of Plot 3 

of approved application 18/05492/VAR 

 

Approved Plot 3 (18/05492/VAR) 

 

Proposed scheme for Plot 3 and 4 

 

Plot 3 and 4 current scheme 

Page 20



 

 

9.2.7 The consented scheme included the use of UPVC woodgrain windows, to which 
officers have no concern about using.  Due to the broad similarities of the proposed 
development and that which benefits from the recent grant of planning permission, in terms of 
the impacts on heritage assets, officers report no concerns.  There would be no harm to the 
character of the Conservation Area or harm to the wider setting of the nearby listed building or 
to the non-designated heritage asset and the development is not considered to constitute as 
an inappropriate form of overdevelopment of the site. The proposed development is 
considered to be compliant with WCS Core Policy 57 and 58 as well as to the national 
planning policy contained within the Framework. 
 
9.3 Impact on the Living Conditions of Neighbouring Residents:  Core Policy 57 of the 
Wiltshire Core Strategy requires a high standard of design in all new development and that 
development proposals should have regard to the compatibility of adjoining buildings and 
uses, the impact on the amenities of existing occupants, and to ensure that appropriate levels 
of amenity are achievable within the development itself, including the consideration of privacy, 
overshadowing and light, noise and odour  pollution. 
 
9.3.1 The front (western facing) elevation of the proposed dwelling on plot 1 would be 
approximately 20 metres distant from the front (eastern) elevation of the nearby neighbouring 
property at No.15 The Butts, whilst the front (western) elevation of the proposed dwelling for 
plot 2 would in excess of 22 metres from the eastern corner of the nearby property at No. 19 
The Butts. The rear (south facing) elevation of the two residential units to be provided within 
the semi-detached block forming plots 3 and 4, would be located over 27 metres d from the 
front (north facing) elevation of 1A Reeves Piece.  With these separations and mindful of the 
scale, siting and building heights being proposed, the development would not result in 
unacceptable levels of overbearing, overlooking or loss of privacy to the neighbouring 
properties stated above. 
 
9.3.2 It is acknowledged that No.4 Reeves Piece would lose some light to their rear garden 
in the late afternoon periods for part of the year if the building for plots 3 and 4 is constructed. 
However, by virtue of the short term impacts, the extent of loss of light would not be 
significantly harmful and it is important to appreciate that under this application, the height of 
the semi-detached building block conforms to the height (when it would serve as one dwelling 
approved by 17/07736/FUL and 18/05492/VAR). In addition, due to the separation distances 
involved, the proposed development would not result in significant overlooking or loss of 
privacy or overshadowing to nearby residents of properties located to the south, west or north. 
The proposed development therefore complies with Core Policy 57 of the WCS and the NPPF. 
 
9.4 Ecology Issues: WCS Core Policy 50 ‘Biodiversity & Geodiversity’ requires that all 
development proposals must demonstrate how they protect features of nature conservation 
and geological value as part of the design rationale. There is an expectation that such features 
shall be retained, buffered, and managed favourably in order to maintain their ecological 
value, connectivity and functionality in the long-term. Furthermore, the policy and the NPPF, 
specifies that all new development should seek opportunities to enhance biodiversity. 
 
9.4.1 Under the previous applications, it was confirmed through detailed ecology surveying 
that Oxford House previously supported a maternity roost of brown long-eared bats and a 
daytime roost for common pipistrelle bats and an occasional day-time roost for a small number 
of serotine bats. The site also features habitat suitable for hedgehogs while the scrub, 
hedgerows and trees on site provide suitable habitat for nesting and foraging birds as well as 
offering habitat for reptile sheltering. 
 
9.4.2 Consistent with the consented scheme, this proposed development scheme includes 
ecological mitigation measures as set out within the submitted ecological appraisal to include 
the provision of bird boxes within the eaves of the proposed dwellings and bat access tiles for 

Plot 3 and 4 current scheme 

 

Page 21



 

 

the roofs of the garages, and provision of log piles for slow worms. These mitigation measures 
have the support of the Council ecologist and can be secured by planning condition. 
 
9.5 Impact on Trees and Landscape Impacts: Core Policy 51 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy 
states that development proposals “should protect, conserve and where possible enhance 
landscape character and must not have a harmful impact upon landscape character, while any 
negative impacts must be mitigated through sensible design and landscape measures”. In 
particular development proposals must demonstrate that the local distinctive character of 
settlements and their landscape settings have been conserved and where possible enhanced. 
 
9.5.1 The scheme would provide for new tree planting to compensate for the necessary tree 
loss. The trees subject to the group TPO would be protected during the construction stages 
and during a recent visit by the planning officer it was noted that the tree protection fencing 
*(as required by 17/07736/FUL and 18/05492/VAR) was in place.   As such, it is not 
considered that this revised development proposal would have an adverse impact on the 
landscape character. It is also noted that the Council’s tree officer raises no objection to this 
development.  
 
9.5.2 The hardstanding areas would be formed in block paving with a gravel driveway. The 
landscaping scheme would remain fundamentally the same as that approved by the 2017 
application and although it is acknowledged that the existing garden and verdant character of 
the area would change as a consequence of completing either the previously consented 
development or this proposal, both are considered to be acceptable in landscape terms with 
the loses compensated for by new landscaping planting with additional hedgerow and tree 
planting along the western boundary and adjacent to the driveway. Native hedge planting is 
proposed to the rear of plots 1 and 2 and along the southern section of the eastern boundary. 
The existing brick wall and hedge along the northern boundary and the existing boundary wall 
and post and rail fence on the southern boundary and close boarded fence on the eastern 
boundary would all remain. Subject to a planning condition, the development is considered 
acceptable and the scheme is considered policy compliant pursuant to Core Policy 51 of the 
WCS and the Framework. 
  
9.6 Parking/Highway Safety Impacts:  The scheme proposes sufficient off-site car parking to 
satisfy policy and the car parking strategy without degrading the natural environment. Due to 
the length and width of the proposed driveways and the area of hardstanding, there is no need 
to prescribe dedicated spaces for visitor parking. There are no objections to the scheme from 
the Council's highways team officer and the scheme would not result in harming highway or 
pedestrian safety. Sufficient off road parking would be provided on site and the scheme would 
be complies with current Council parking standards.  
 
9.7 Other Issues:  Some third parties have raised concern over the lack of detail on the 
submitted plans. However, officers consider that the submitted details are sufficient to 
accurately illustrate what is being proposed and the application is supported by sufficient 
evidence and supporting material to enable the Council to make an informed decision. The 
concern raised about suitable facilities being made available on site for workmen, is not a 
material planning consideration. No highway based concerns are raised about emergency 
vehicle access and it has been observed that the width of the private access serving plots 1, 3 
and 4 would be sufficiently wide (at 3.7 metres wide at its narrowest point) to allow an 
emergency vehicle to gain sufficient access. Third parties have also raised concern over land 
ownership, however the applicant maintains that the submission is accurate and any residual 
disputes would appear to be civil matters. In addition, the concern raised about future 
maintenance restrictions pursuant to the hedgerow that would be close to the proposed 
garage serving plot 4 would also be a civil matter between neighbouring residents.  

 

Page 22



 

 

10. Conclusion (The Planning Balance) The application site forms part of a 
residential curtilage associated to the recently demolished 2-storey Oxford House at No.12 the 
Butts, located within the established settlement limits of the Large Village of Bratton and 
Conservation Area. The site benefits from extant planning permission for a replacement 
dwelling and 2 additional dwellings under 18/05492/VAR and works on site have commenced.  
The proposed design and layout of the dwellings on plots 1 and 2 have not changed from the 
extant approved scheme 18/05492/VAR; whilst the siting, footprint, height and bulk of the 
proposed semi-detached dwelling for proposed plots 3 and 4 are the same as the approved 
extant detached dwelling set out by application 18/05492/VAR.  Officers submit that significant 
weight should be afforded to the above and to officer’s detailed appraisal and comparison 
between what is proposed now and what has extant planning permission. 
 
10.1 The proposed residential development would not lead to substantive harm to the living 
conditions enjoyed by any of the neighbouring or nearby properties. The density of the 
scheme is considered appropriate for the site and the revised proposed block plan (as set out 
by plan drawing. AH2017/29 Sheet 1 of 7) would accommodate a satisfactory form of 
development in terms of landscape, character and visual impacts. New tree and hedgerow 
planting would offset the proposed scheme has the support of the Council’s tree officer. The 
proposed ecological mitigation measures are considered acceptable and the scheme would 
not adversely impact local biodiversity. The proposed development would not harm the 
character of the Bratton Conservation Area, the adjacent listed building or the nearby non-
designated heritage asset. The development would be served by a safe access to the highway 
network and the scheme would not result in severe cumulative harm to highway safety or 
result in harm to pedestrian safety. Securing the necessary parking and drainage provision 
can be adequately dealt with via planning conditions. 
 
10.2 In terms of the negative impacts, it is recognised that the scheme would result in some 
minor loss of light to the rear garden of No. 4 Reeves Piece. However this loss of light would 
not be so harmful that the application could be recommended for refusal 
 
10.3 In terms of positive aspects, the development would provide 3 (net) new market 
homes. This can be given moderate weight. There would also be some short terms benefits 
during the construction phase of the development through direct and indirect job creation 
which can be given some weight as part of the planning balance determination.  
 
10.4  Officers conclude that the benefits of providing an additional house (to be provided as 
part of a semi-detached building block) comprising plots 3 and 4 would not lead to significant 
harm to warrant the refusal of planning permission and that planning permission should be 
granted subject to conditions. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION - APPROVE: Subject to Conditions 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans:  
 
Amended proposed block plan dwg no. AH2017/29 Sheet 1 of 7  
Plot 1 proposed plans and elevations dwg no. AH2017/29 Sheet 2 of 7  
Plot 2 proposed plans and elevations dwg no. AH2017/29 Sheet 3 of 7  

Page 23



 

 

Plot  3 and 4 proposed elevations and street scene dwg no. AH2017/29 Sheet 4 of 7  
Plot  3 and 4 proposed plans dwg no. AH2017/29 Sheet 5 of 7  
Amended garage plans and elevations dwg no. AH2017/29 Sheet 6 of 7  
Existing block plan dwg no. AH2017/29 Sheet 7 of 7  
 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
3. No development hereby approved shall progress beyond slab level until the exact details 
and samples of the materials to be used for all the external walls and roofs have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to be 
considered prior to granting planning permission and/or the matter is required to be agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order that the 
development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, in the interests of visual amenity and 
the character and appearance of the area. 
 
4. No development hereby approved shall progress beyond slab level until details of all 
eaves, verges, windows (including head, sill and window reveal details), doors, rainwater 
goods, chimneys, dormers and canopies have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to be 
considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order that the 
development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, in the interests of visual amenity and 
the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. 
 
5. No development hereby approved shall progress beyond slab level until a scheme of 
hard and soft landscaping has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, the details of which shall include:- 
·           a detailed planting specification showing all plant species, supply and planting sizes 
and planting densities;  
·           means of enclosure;  
·           car park layouts;  
·           all hard and soft surfacing materials;  
·           minor artefacts and structures (e.g. refuse and other storage units etc). 
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to be 
considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order that the 
development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure a satisfactory landscaped 
setting for the development and the protection of existing important landscape features. 
 
6. All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out 
in the first planting and seeding season following the first occupation of the building(s) or 
the completion of the development whichever is the sooner.  All shrubs, trees and hedge 
planting shall be maintained free from weeds and shall be protected from damage by 
vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of ten years, die, are removed, 
or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season 
with others of a similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority.  All hard landscaping shall also be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in accordance 

Page 24



 

 

with a programme to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the development and the 
protection of existing important landscape/ecological features. 
 
7. No development hereby approved shall progress beyond slab level until a scheme for 
the discharge of surface water from the site (including surface water from the 
accesses/driveways), incorporating sustainable drainage details, has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling shall be first occupied 
until surface water drainage to serve that part of the development has been constructed in 
accordance with the approved scheme.  
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to be 
considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order that the 
development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure that the development can 
be adequately drained. 
 
8. No development hereby approved shall progress beyond slab level until details of the 
works for the disposal of sewerage including the point of connection to the existing public 
sewer have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No 
dwelling shall be first occupied until the approved sewerage details to serve that part of the 
development have been fully implemented in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to be 
considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be agreed 
with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order that the 
development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure that the proposal is 
provided with a satisfactory means of drainage and does not increase the risk of flooding or 
pose a risk to public health or the environment. 
 
9. No dwelling hereby approved shall be first occupied until the access, turning area, 
visibility splays, parking spaces and garaging to serve each dwelling has been completed in 
accordance with the details shown on the approved plans. The areas shall be maintained 
for those purposes at all times thereafter. 
 
REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
10. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or amending 
that Order with or without modification), the garages hereby permitted shall not be 
converted to habitable accommodation. 
 
REASON: To secure the retention of adequate parking provision, in the interests of 
highway safety. 
 
11. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or 
amending that Order with or without modification), no garages, sheds, greenhouses and 
other ancillary domestic outbuildings shall be erected on the site. 

 
REASON: To define the terms of the planning permission and to safeguard the character 
and appearance of the conservation area and the wider setting of heritage assets. 
 
 

Page 25



 

 

12. The proposed development shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the Ecological 
Appraisal and Reptile Mitigation and Compensation Report dated 18 December 2018 by 
ABR Ecology Ltd. The development shall be carried out with liaison with, and supervision 
by a suitably qualified, licensed and competent ecological consultant. The compensatory 
bat roosts, reptile habitats, and ecological enhancements including for nesting birds, shall 
be retained as available for use by bats, reptiles and nesting birds for the lifetime of the 
development. 
 
REASON: To ensure appropriate mitigation, compensation and enhancement for protected 
species; and compliance with The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, 
the National Planning Policy Framework, the NERC Act 2006 and Core Policy 50 of the 
Wiltshire Core Strategy (adopted January 2015). 
 

INFORMATIVES: 
1. The Council offices no longer have the facility to receive material samples. Material 
samples required by planning condition, must be made available to the appointed planning 
officer at a mutually convenient time to site as part of any formal discharge of planning 
condition process. 
 
2. The applicant is advised that the development hereby approved may represent 
chargeable development under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as 
amended) and Wiltshire Council's CIL Charging Schedule. If the development is 
determined to be liable for CIL, a Liability Notice will be issued notifying you of the amount 
of CIL payment due. If an Additional Information Form has not already been submitted, 
please submit it now so that we can determine the CIL liability. In addition, you may be 
able to claim exemption or relief, in which case, please submit the relevant form so that we 
can determine your eligibility. The CIL Commencement Notice and Assumption of Liability 
must be submitted to Wiltshire Council prior to commencement of development.  Should 
development commence prior to the CIL Liability Notice being issued by the local planning 
authority, any CIL exemption or relief will not apply and full payment will be required in full 
and with immediate effect. Should you require further information or to download the CIL 
forms please refer to the Council's Website: 
 
www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy.  

 

Page 26

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy


 

 

APPENDIX A: Copies of the officer reports pursuant to approving application ref(s) 
17/07736/FUL and 18/05492/VAR 
 

CASE OFFICER'S REPORT 
 
Application Reference: 17/07736/FUL 
Date of Inspection: 25 August, 6 September and 5 

December 2017 
Date site notice posted: 6 September 2017 
Date of press notice: 8 September 2017 

 
1. Purpose of Report 
The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of the 
development plan and other material considerations and to recommend that the application be 
approved subject to conditions. 

 
2. Report Summary 
This report will set out a description of the site, the nature of the proposals, the consultation 
responses received, the relevant policies and material planning considerations, and provide 
an assessment of the planning merits which have led to a recommendation for planning 
permission being granted subject to conditions. 
 
3. Site Description 
The application site is the residential curtilage of Oxford House, 12 the Butts, Bratton. It is 
occupied by an early 20th century dwelling that is in a dilapidated condition. The dwelling is 
located to the west of the site with a principle elevation that faces north, so that it is sited 
perpendicular to the highway. It has traditional Victorian massing and proportions with bay 
windows flanking a porched entrance. It has been subject to 2-storey extension at its rear 
dating from the mid-19th century. It has been subject to renovations from circa 1980s which 
replaced the roof with concrete tiles and pebble dashed the exterior walls. 
 
The site has access onto the Butts at its northernmost point, adjacent to the access for the 
neighbouring property. The access leads to garages/outbuildings of varying form including a 
clay tiled pitched roof structure adjacent the road and flat roof garages behind. 
 

 
 
To the east of the plot a number of large and mature Walnut and Sycamore trees have 
intertwining canopies and there is an understorey of fruit tree specimens under and around 
these. There are a number of other smaller trees within other parts of the curtilage and 
frontage boundary hedge plants. This all contributes to a verdant character at the site.  
 

Page 27



 

 

2 Sycamore trees and a Robinia pseudoacacia are subject to a group preservation order 
(09/00039/GRP) in the south east corner of the site adjacent to the access road serving 
Reeves Piece. A third Sycamore that formed part of the TPO has been felled following 
approval (14/09327/TPO). 
 

 
 
To the south east of the application site is a development of 5 detached properties on land 
that has formed part of the extended historic curtilage of 12 The Butts. These are of a 
suburban form, but form a part of the designated conservation area. To the south and west 
are a range of properties including the non-designated heritage asset of The Oratory and mid-
twentieth century housing on the opposite side of The Butts. To the north is the Grade II listed 
10 The Butts which is set behind its curtilage listed 2-storey outbuilding which fronts onto The 
Butts. 
 

 
 
The site is not subject to any other special designations. The site is located within flood zone 1 
– the lowest fluvial flood risk. There is no elevated surface water flood risk, but there is a 
general record of potential ground water flooding that covers much of western Wiltshire. 
 
There are records of kites and bats in the vicinity and the submitted ecology information sets 
out evidence of bats within the dwelling and further potential across the site for a range of bat 
species, nesting birds, reptiles, and hedgehogs. 
  
4. Planning History 
W/92/00081/FUL – Erection of four detached chalets each with a detached double garage - 
Approved December 1992 
 
W/13/00346/TCA – Crown reduce and reshape Sycamore Tree by 30% and crown lift to 4m - 
Approve April 2013 
 

Page 28



 

 

17/07747/106 - Modification of existing S106 relating to planning permission W/92/00081 to 
remove land originally included on original application - Approved September 2017 
 
18/02524/TPO - T1 - T32 -Various Works as per schedule - Pending 
 
Adjacent land: 
W/06/03775/TCA – To fell a Sycamore tree - Approved January 2007 
 
14/09327/TPO – Fell 3 Sycamore trees- TPO W/09/00039 - Approved November 2014 
 
5. The Proposal 
This is a proposal to demolish the existing dwelling and erect three dwellings. The proposal 
also includes associated works such as garaging, a new access to serve one of the proposed 
units and landscaping works. 
 

 
 
Plot 1 would be a 1½ storey property providing 4 bedrooms including one at ground floor level 
providing for lifetime living. This property would utilise the existing access with garaging at the 
rear within a detached flat roof sedum structure under the canopies of the walnut trees. It 
would have hard standing to the front of this for 2 cars. The property would be constructed 
from a varied palette of materials including brick plinth and horizontal timber cladding to the 
walls and natural slate to the roof. 
 
Plot 2 would be a 2-storey structure detailed to reflect the vernacular of the building to be 
demolished on site. It would be constructed with brick and reconstructed stone details to cills, 
headers and quoins. It is proposed to use natural slate to the roof. This building would front 
onto The Butts but be set back behind a front garden which would be landscaped to provide a 
new access, hard standing for parking and turning and appropriate visibility splays. The 
dwelling would provide a 4-bedroom home. 
 
Plot 3 would be a located to the rear of the site adjacent to 4 Reeves Piece. It would be 
accessed along a private drive from the existing access to the site. It would have a detached 
garage and hard standing for parking and turning. The property would be set out over 3 
storeys with 2 bedrooms provided within the roof space. It would have 5 bedrooms in total. It 
would have the same materials palette as plot 1.  

Page 29



 

 

 
The proposal has been submitted with indicative details of landscaping to show the retained 
trees and indicative details of replacement planting to compensate for those felled. Further the 
proposals details an ecological mitigation plan. 
 
6. Local Planning Policy 
Local context: 
Wiltshire Core Strategy (development plan) 
CP1, CP2, CP3, CP32, CP41, CP45, CP50, CP51, CP57, CP58, CP60, CP61, CP62, CP64, 
CP67 and appendix D’s ‘saved’ policy U1a of the West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 
(2004). 
 
Wiltshire Local Transport Plan 2011-2026 Car Parking Strategy (LTP3) 
PS6. 
 
Wiltshire’s Community Infrastructure Levy – Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document (Planning Obligations SPD) 
 
Wiltshire’s Community Infrastructure Levy - Charging Schedule (Charging Schedule) 
 
Wiltshire’s Community Infrastructure Levy - Regulation 123 List (123 List) 
 
National Context: 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
 
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed building and Conservation area) Act 1990 states that the 
local planning authority has a duty to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses. 
 
Section 72 of the Planning (Listed building and Conservation area) Act 1990 states that the 
local planning authority has a duty to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving and 
enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area. 
 
7. Summary of consultation responses 
Bratton Parish Council: Objection. 
“The Council object to the above application on the following grounds 
Policy 
The application does not meet the policy aspirations of the Core Strategy namely:- 
Development at Large Villages will be limited to that needed to help meet the housing needs 
of the settlement. 
Traffic 
The development of 3 four/five bedroom homes would attract too much traffic to an already 
busy single carriageway village road without footpaths. 
Conservation 
The Council would wish to see the retention of the Victorian house on the site.  The property is 
clearly capable of restoration and improvement and its retention would underscore the 
historical importance of this part of Bratton and enhance the conservation area. The Council is 
of the view that the property merits preservation. 
 
The Chair expressed concern at the way in which the consultation on the revised plans had 
been carried out by Wiltshire Council.” 
 

Page 30



 

 

Wessex Water: No objection. 
 
Wiltshire Council’s conservation officer: No objection. 
Comments to the revised plans: 
“After reading the historic background material I agree that the building is not of any great 
significance, and I think that the report gives a very good record to preserve the history of the 
building and the site. The building has been compromised by a host of alterations and its 
actual significance has been severely degraded. Therefore retaining the building is not of such 
great importance. 
 
The proposal now offers three dwellings on the site which I feel is an acceptable amount of 
development. They have now demonstrated that the landscaping of retained and new 
vegetation would retain the existing verdant character of the site, and therefore maintain its 
impact on the Conservation Area. 
 
The design of the units, especially Plots 1 and 2, have improved and taken more account of 
the historic surroundings and would therefore sit better in the street scene and the 
Conservation Area. The setting of the listed building likewise would be respected.  
 
Consequently, I find that the proposed scheme would result in a neutral impact on the 
Conservation Area and the setting of the listed building and that on balance no harm would be 
caused.” 
 
Comments to the original submission: 
“Above the various tiers of planning policy and guidance is the over-arching statutory 
requirement under the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to give 
special regard to the “desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which it possesses” (s66). 
 
Paragraph 132 of the NPPF states that “when considering the impact of a proposed 
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation. … Significance can be harmed or lost through … development 
within its setting. As heritage assets are irreplaceable, any harm or loss should require clear 
and convincing justification.” 
 
Paragraph 134 of the NPPF states that “Where a development proposal will lead to less than 
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be 
weighed against the public benefits of the proposal...” 
 
Paragraph 135 of the NPPF states “The effect of an application on the significance of a non-
designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the application. In 
weighing applications that affect directly or indirectly non designated heritage assets, a 
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset.” 
 
Core Policy 57 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy states: “A high standard of design is required in 
all new developments, including extensions… Development is expected to create a strong 
sense of place through drawing on the local context and being complementary to the locality. 
Applications for new development must be accompanied by appropriate information to 
demonstrate how the proposal will make a positive contribution to the character of Wiltshire 
through… being sympathetic to and conserving historic buildings” 
 
Core Policy 58 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy echoes the above national policy in seeking the 
protection, conservation and, where possible, enhancement of heritage assets. The plot is 

Page 31



 

 

within the Conservation Area and directly adjacent to the Grade II listed building to the north. 
There is an existing building on the application site that is proposed for demolition. 
 
The existing building has a historic core dating to the last years of the 19th Century, as it first 
appears on the 1900-1901 maps. The front elevation of the building has an attractive 
symmetry with a central door under a canopy, flanked by bay windows each side, with three 
windows over. The house also has two brick chimneys with detailing and four chimney pots. 
However, the house has been poorly extended to the north and its windows have been 
replaced. The roof covering has also been replaced with modern concrete tiles. The walls 
have been rough rendered but there are stone details remaining such as the quoins and 
window cases. 
 
So, the existing building is within the realms of being classed as a non-designated heritage 
asset, and therefore falls under the protection of paragraph 135 of the NPPF. However, as it 
has been significantly altered its wider contribution to the historic interest of the Conservation 
Area is reduced. Its value as a non-designated heritage asset has been compromised by its 
unsympathetic alterations and therefore its significance is considered to be low. 
 
Ideally, this building would be brought back into a viable use by removing the harmful 
elements and, perhaps with new extension(s), work to reveal its former significance. The 
NPPF says that a balanced judgement is required. I do not have an in principle objection to 
building additional dwellings on the site, although I think the current plans are overly ambitious 
for this area. I acknowledge that there is similar close grain development to the east, however 
this current site is within the immediate vicinity of the Grade II listed building, 10 The Butts, 
and its curtilage listed outbuilding. This close proximity does increase the sensitivity of this 
site. I would recommend the existing building on site be reworked to provide the basis of a 
focal building within the site. Then, I would think that perhaps two additional dwellings could 
be created, preferably without detached garages in order to keep built footprint to a minimum. 
 
I consider that at present the proposed scheme would result in less than substantial harm to 
the character of the Conservation Area and the setting of the listed building and is therefore in 
conflict with paragraph 132 of the NPPF and Core Policies 57 and 58 of the Wiltshire Core 
Strategy. In addition, when considering paragraph 135 of the NPPF the ‘harm or loss’ to the 
non-designated heritage asset would be total, as the asset would be demolished. When this is 
added into the consideration of paragraph 134 of the NPPF I cannot see any public benefits 
from a conservation viewpoint to outweigh this harm, although other public benefits may exist 
and these would need to be weighed against the above policies. 
 
I would like to see the above points addressed and I would be happy to attend meetings or 
review revised drawings as appropriate.” 
 
Wiltshire Council’s drainage officer: Support with conditions. 
“Consultee response from drainage team was made in September 2017, at which time there 
was a lack of drainage information thus team gave 2 options in relation to a recommendation 
thus the following points are still applicable” 
 
“Application form say foul drainage disposal to go to main sewer – this will need an application 
to the sewerage undertaker – also check need to see if layout affects any existing S105A 
public sewer – may need to change layout or need to seek permission to divert sewers which 
may (or may not) be given by the sewerage undertaker  
 
Application form states storm water drainage disposal will be a mixture of sustainable 
drainage, soakaway and main sewer – no supporting information with the application – WW 
records only show a foul sewer for this area and would not normally allow storm water to foul 
connection especially if coupled with the use of soakaway  

Page 32



 

 

 
No permeability testing information with submission to show soakaways will work, 
size/location – see below  
 
Area is chalk thus any soakaway will need to be located at least 10m from 
buildings/structure/roads due to risk of chalk dissolving and leaving a void which could 
collapse” 
 
“Still no drainage information to show how site is to deal with foul/storm drainage disposal. As 
previous response - Site is located in FZ 1 and not within an area shown to be at risk from 
surface water flooding for 1 in 30/100 events according to EA mapping or affected by high 
ground water levels 
 
Conditions:  
As previous response option of recommendation on drainage is left to the LPA  
Option 1 – objection on grounds of no drainage disposal arrangement thus no proof site can 
be drained  
Option 2 – support with the following conditions (on the assumption they can be met)” 
 
Wiltshire Council’s ecology officer: Final comments – no objection. 
“I have reviewed the submitted Bat Mitigation and Compensation Plan (Becci Smith Ecological 
Consultant, April 2018), hereafter referred to as ‘the bat mitigation’ and am satisfied that this 
suitably addresses the outstanding issue raised within the response I provided on 28th March 
2018. As such, I withdraw my previous holding objection to the proposed development, 
subject to the inclusion of the conditions set out below within the planning permission, 
assuming you are otherwise minded to approve the application.  
 
The bat mitigation plan considers the application against the three licensing tests under the 
Habitats Regulations 2017 and provides information to demonstrate how the proposals meet 
the tests. Taking this into account I consider that Natural England (NE) would likely grant a 
European Protected Species Mitigation Licence (EPSML) to permit the works on the basis that 
the proposed mitigation and compensation for bats is strictly implemented. 
 
Conditions: 
The proposed development shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the Bat Mitigation 
and Compensation Plan (Becci Smith Ecological Consultant, April 2018), Reptile Mitigation 
and Compensation Report (Sedgehill Ecology Services, Updated February 2018), Section 8 of 
the Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey and Daytime Bat Inspection Survey Report (Sedgehill 
Ecology Services, Updated February 2018) and Drawing No AH2017/29 Sheet 1 to 7. The 
development shall be carried out with liaison with, and supervision by a suitably qualified, 
licensed and competent ecological consultant. The compensatory bat roosts, reptile habitats, 
and ecological enhancements including for nesting birds, shall be retained as available for use 
by bats, reptiles and nesting birds for the lifetime of the development. 
REASON: To ensure appropriate mitigation, compensation and enhancement for protected 
species; and compliance with The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, 
the National Planning Policy Framework, the NERC Act 2006 and Core Policy 50 of the 
Wiltshire Core Strategy (adopted January 2015).” 
 
Wiltshire Council’s highways officer: No objection. 
“I refer to the recent Site Plan, I raise no highway objection to the proposed development 
subject to the visibility splays as shown on the plan, being available prior to the development 
and maintained thereafter.” 
 
Wiltshire Council’s rights of way officer: No comments received. 
 

Page 33



 

 

Wiltshire Council’s tree officer: Support subject to conditions. 
“Following a positive site meeting with the applicant, all tree matters have been taken into 
consideration and a larger amount of mature trees retained providing a sense of maturity to 
the proposed development. The issues regarding the retention of two Walnut trees and the 
proposed installation of a car port between the two trees has also been rectified and agreed, 
that careful laying of a cellular confinement system and low impact screw thread piles would 
have a minimal impact on the health, vitality and longevity of these important landscape trees.” 
 
8. Publicity 
This consisted of neighbour letters, the erection of a site notice, a Wiltshire Times advert and 
publication on the Council’s website. Revised plans were consulted upon. In total both 
consultation efforts resulted in circa 28 letters of representation from circa 17 parties. The 
objection against the original proposals may be summarised as follows: 

 Section 106 restrictions to development; 
 Oxford House (12 The Butts) ought to be retained; 
 Ecology concerns; 
 Impact on character and appearance of the area including heritage assets; 
 Highway safety with dramatic increase in vehicles; 
 No pavement on The Butts and reversing onto it would be dangerous; 
 Overlooking and impact on amenity; 
 Impact on trees; 
 Outside of housing area / housing need to be met my proposed allocation / proposals 

do not meet housing need; 
 Impact on drainage / water pressure / sewers; 
 Cynical attempt at maximising developer profits; 
 Gardens too small and property too close to road; 
 Overdevelopment; 
 Inappropriate design and elevation treatments; 
 Lack of consultation /communication with residents prior to submission; 
 Various contradictions, inaccuracies, incongruencies within the submissions; 

 
The objection against the revised proposals may be summarised as follows: 

 Concerns over consultation process and IT issues (consultation extended to address 
this); 

 Plans are improved; 

 Ongoing harm to conservation area from demolition of existing dwelling; 

 Neighbouring amenity and overlooking; 

 Highway safety; 

 Further extensions to property should be restricted; 

 Management of trees and ecology required; 

 Plot 3 is too high; 

 Does not contribute to the need within Bratton for smaller housing; 

 An alternative scheme for 2 houses needs to be explored with the revenue from the 
additional dwelling being utilised to fund the renovation of the existing; 

 An alternative scheme would be for 6-8 starter units in a stable yard arrangement; 

 Cynical attempt at maximising developer profits – there are other ways to achieve this 
end; 

 Detailed design concerns / potential for pastiche / success or failure in the detail; and 

 Ecological measures need to be secured or are pointless. 
 
 
 
 
9. Planning Considerations 

Page 34



 

 

 Principle of development: 
The application site is located within the development limits of Bratton, which is designated as 
a large village under Core Policy 32. In these circumstances Core Policies 1 and 2 direct that 
the principle of further housing development is acceptable in principle. The provision of 2 
additional dwellings over the existing unit would help contribute towards the delivery of 
housing within the area and make a more efficient use of land within a location that policy 
directs as being sustainable. 
 
Concern has been raised as to whether the proposal would meet a housing need. In terms of 
numbers the latest Housing Land Supply Statement sets out a residual requirement for 4 
houses within the Westbury Community Area (outside of Westbury itself) up to 2026. Whilst 
the residual requirement is nominal, this is a minimum requirement and not a cap on 
development. Furthermore there are only two large villages (Bratton and Dilton Marsh) and 
one small villages (Edington/Tinhead) to meet this need. The residual requirement up to 2026 
highlights that the need is not urgent, not that nonetheless there is clear need. 
 
In terms of the type of housing required CP45 of the development plan set out that: 
“The Wiltshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment identifies the housing needs of Wiltshire. 
Any variation to this will need to be justified through the production of new, sound evidence 
from either an updated Strategic Housing Market Assessment or other credible evidence 
source.” 
 
The most up to date Strategic Housing Market Assessment is from 2017 and this identifies a 
need for 2, 3, 4 and 5+ bedroom accommodation that is market housing. ‘Affordable housing’ 
needs are not relevant in this case as it is a proposal for market housing and below the 
thresholds for providing ‘affordable housing’. The evidence points to the main need being for 3 
and 4 bedroom market accommodation. This proposal would provide 1x 3-bedroom dwelling 
with flexible ground floor space to provide a further bedroom at the desire of occupants; 1x 4-
bedroom dwelling and 1x 5 bedroom dwelling. The proposal would therefore address the 
evidenced housing need and comply with CP45. 
 

 Impact on designated and non-designated heritage assets: 
The application site is located within the designated conservation area of Bratton, it is located 
immediately to the south of the Grade II listed, 10 The Butts and is within the setting of this 
listed building. Furthermore the site is occupied by a late 19th century 2-storey property that 
may be considered as a non-designated heritage asset. Furthermore the site forms part of the 
setting to the non-designated heritage asset that is the Oratory. Designated heritage assets 
are subject to statutory protection as set out above. The conservation officer’s comments are 
set out verbatim above and already provide the detail of the statutory protection, the tests 
required by the NPPF and the local policy context. 
 
The application has been submitted with a heritage assessment that considers most of the 
relevant heritage assets and their significance. It is clear, through discussion, that this has in 
part informed the design and nature of the proposals in order to try and ensure that no harm to 
the significance of these assets occurs and where it necessarily occurs that it is minimised. 
 
It is understood that the application site has never had an association with 10 The Butts 
(Grade II listed). The land has consistently been shown as separate to the property and the 
existing relatively high red brick boundary feature is likely to be a historic feature of this 
relationship. It is proposed to retain this feature and express it as part of the site layout. This 
contributes to maintaining the setting of the listed building and the significant features of the 
conservation area. 

Page 35



 

 

 

 

1868-1899 1895-1911 

 

 

1908-1933 1952-1992 

 
Historic mapping indicates that the application site has generally had an open character being 
in agricultural use (allotments gardens) as recently as the late 20th century. Indeed in the late 
20th century, the agricultural activity appears to include substantial building footprints on land 
that has now been developed (Reeves Piece). The verdant nature of the site appears to be a 
relatively modern feature of the land. It appears to have occurred (in part) simultaneously with 
the wider development that has happened around this location and which has severed the site 
from its historic agricultural origins. It is also considered that many of the trees are fruit trees 
that may age from the allotment gardens that were in the vicinity around 1900. This may 
include the Walnuts (Trees 2 and 12 – category B) as well as the numerous fruit tree species. 
It is possible to conclude that the verdant nature of the site may and indeed is likely to have 
been the case for longer than the applicant considers and it now actively contributes to the 
character and appearance at this point in the conservation area. The current proposals are 
much improved in terms of tree retention and indicative details of replacement planting to 
compensate for the trees that would be felled. This is generally acknowledged in the public 
responses. Further the conservation and tree officers are not raising objection to the revised 
proposals and conditions may control the final details. To this end the scheme would not 
cause any harmful impact to the character and appearance of the conservation area subject to 
conditions.  
 
The site is occupied by a much altered late 19th century dwelling. It has had significant and 
rather regrettable extensions to the rear, but its south elevation still reads well as a principle 
elevation. However the roof has been recovered with concrete tiles, its windows replaced with 
uPVC and its walls covered with painted pebbledash render. Its origins and significance to the 
conservation area have been researched and appear, from the lack of information, to be 
limited. Its aesthetic value is also limited given the circa 1960s additions and circa 1980s 

Page 36



 

 

renovations. Its general condition is acknowledged to be poor and investment costs to improve 
it likely to be high and towards the disproportionate end of the spectrum. This is supported by 
a condition survey and viability statement submitted by the applicant showing works required 
to bring it up to desirable and modern standards to be in excess of £350k. Further its siting 
results in an inefficient use of the site frontage and land making it difficult to accommodate 
frontage development and increasing pressure on the trees within the centre of the site. Whilst 
the dwelling could be retained and the works could be funded by allowing a single dwelling at 
the rear such a project is unlikely to generate notable profit and would probably require a 
developer to do it for its own sake. There would be likely funding issues with such a project. In 
short such an approach is not considered to be feasible based on the evidence and 
information available.  
 
Moreover the NPPF is clear that: 
“In weighing applications that affect directly or indirectly non designated heritage assets, a 
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the 
significance of the heritage asset.” 
This proposal would lead to the complete loss of the non-designated heritage asset. However 
the significance of this is considered to be limited. The loss of the asset would allow for a more 
efficient use of the land. The evidence presented indicates that the heritage asset is beyond 
economic repair and there is no substantive evidence to the contrary. In this context a 
balanced judgement is that the loss of the non-designated heritage asset is not objectionable.  
 
As a feature of the conservations area, a designated heritage asset (and where a different test 
applies), it is considered to have limited significance given its age and current appearance and 
on balance would not result in any significant harm. Any very limited harm would be 
outweighed by the benefit of redevelopment through enhancing the appearance at this point, 
providing additional dwellings, making a more efficient use of land and the associated 
economic, environmental and social benefits involved with this.  
 
To the south The Oratory is an attractive non-designated heritage asset. Its setting is much 
altered over time by developments such as the existing dwelling on site and other 20th century 
housing to the east, west and north. In this context the proposal would have a very limited 
impact on the setting of this non-designated heritage asset. The weight that can be afforded to 
this is low. 
 
It is noted that the Council’s conservation officer concludes to raise no objection to the 
proposals and their assessment is set out verbatim above.  
 
It is concluded that the site and the dwelling, 12 The Butts, are of limited value to the 
significance of the character and appearance of the conservation area and the setting of 10 
The Butts as a listed building. Furthermore the loss of 12 The Butts (as a non-designated 
heritage asset of such low significance, given it historic value and its condition) is not a 
significant concern. The impact on the setting of the Oratory to the south is also of very low 
significance given that this is not listed and only its setting would be affected – a setting that is 
already much altered. 
 
This proposal would maintain a high degree of the existing verdant character based on the 
plans which show retention of key trees, such as the 2 walnut specimens and an indicative 
landscaping scheme that proposes more trees than would be felled. A detailed landscaping 
scheme can be controlled by condition. The siting and elevation treatment of the dwellings is 
considered to respect the context of the site with traditional design features in the frontage 
locations and a more contemporary and suburban form to the rear adjacent to the existing 
dwellings of this type. 
 

 Design and street scene: 

Page 37



 

 

This application has been subject to protracted discussions and negotiations with the 
developer that have resulted in a reduction in the number of dwellings proposed and an 
enhanced design approach. 
 
The proposal now concentrates the number of dwellings at the frontage to be 2 in lieu of the 
existing dwelling. This would be a more efficient use of land. This also concentrates 
development away from the retained trees within the centre of the site. The elevation 
approach on plot 1 is to employ a traditional and simple form that may have reflected an 
ancillary rural type building. The approach on plot 2 was to try and reflect the existing dwelling. 
 
Proposed street scene of pots 1 and 2 with the scale of adjacent buildings outlined: 

 
 
The proposals are considered to satisfactorily address the street scene by employing 
sympathetic scale and massing and reflecting a village vernacular. This is achieved at plot 1 
with its simple linear frontage; and on plot 2 by applying style and proportions consistent with 
the existing dwelling on site. Materials and finishes can be controlled through conditions but it 
is noted that natural slate is proposed to the roofs as well as brick and timber to the walls. As 
suggested in the public responses the success of the design relies on the detail, and so far as 
this can be reasonably controlled through planning, it would be through the use of planning 
conditions.  
 
In terms of plot 3 this has been sited to the rear of the site and would not form a prominent 
part of the street scene. It would be well screened from prominent view by any final details of 
landscaping. The design approach to this plot has been led by the adjacent development at 
Reeves Piece which employs a 20th century suburban aesthetic. The proposal is considered to 
be sympathetic to this context with very similar scale and heights to the existing development 
next door.  
 
It is considered that the design approach has been justified through the course of discussion 
and negotiations. This has been refined in further discussions to the point where the applicant 
is unwilling to make any further compromises. This is considered to be the best scheme that 
can be negotiated with the developer and their agent and it is considered to be satisfactory in 
the context of the surrounding built form having regard to the development plan policies and 
any other material considerations. Further details can be controlled by condition (to a point), 
but planning ultimately is not intended to control every minutiae of development.  
 

 Landscape and landscape features: 
As set out above the verdant nature of the site is the key defining characteristic of the site 
now. This is likely to stem from the twentieth century only, whether that was early, mid or late 
twentieth century is a point of conjecture.  
 
Retention of this verdant character presents both an opportunity and constraint for 
development of the site and seeking a more efficient use of the land within the development 
limits. Finding an appropriate balance is required and this requires the strategic retention of 
key trees and a strategic replacement landscaping scheme. It is considered that the proposals 
achieve this balance with in the indicative replacement planting scheme which ensures more 
planting than would be felled. The details of planting should be secured through conditions.  

Page 38



 

 

 
The only significant existing hard landscaping feature here is the boundary between 10 and 12 
The Butts. This is proposed to be retained and expressed as part of the final layout. Final 
details of all proposed landscaping again ought to be controlled through condition. It is noted 
that the Council’s tree officer raises no objection subject to conditions.  
 

 Ecology: 
The application has been submitted with detailed ecology reports that have been subject of 
detailed discussion and negotiation with the Council’s ecologist. The final comments from the 
Council’s ecologist are set out verbatim above and they are satisfied that the proposals are 
acceptable subject to a condition to secure the ecological mitigation detailed in the 
submissions. 
 
The initial phase 1 report concludes that “habitats on the site are considered to be of potential 
ecological value and the presence of protected species is of probable”. In light of this further 
survey work (reptiles and bats) was required and general recommendations for mitigation and 
enhancement were made (habitat, nesting birds, and hedgehogs).  
 
A reptile mitigation and compensation report was submitted in light of the phase 1 findings. 
This found the site was used by slow worms, a protected species. The affected population 
would be of “local importance”. The proposal is acknowledged to result in a loss of habitat for 
this species and as such the scheme has been designed to mitigate for this through 
alternative herbinacular and shelter provision and ensuring that they are translocated as part 
of the pre-construction phase. Once development is complete the use of the land remains 
residential and species will be able to move freely within the created landscape setting. It is 
important to note that other legislative protections are not affected by planning. The full details 
are set out within section 8 of the report and indicated within the architectural plans. The 
suggested condition by the Council’s ecologist would control the implementation of the 
proposed mitigation and enhancements. 
 
A bat mitigation and compensation report was also submitted in light of the phase 1 findings. 
This found the site was used by 3 species of bats for roosting. A small maternity roost for 
brown long-eared bats (“medium conservation status”) and day roosts for a single serotine 
and a low number of common pipistrelle bats (“low conservation status”) were found. The 
proposal is acknowledged to result in a loss of habitat for these species and as such the 
scheme has been designed to mitigate for this through alternative roosting provision prior to 
demolition, and additional roosting features as enhancement upon scheme completion. 
Conditions can ensure alternative provision is made, once complete the land use would 
remain residential. It is important to note that other legislative protections are not affected by 
planning. The full details are set out within section 8 of the report and indicated within the 
architectural plans. The suggested condition by the Council’s ecologist would control the 
implementation of the proposed mitigation and enhancements. 
 
The proposals would affect protected species and their habitat as well as other ecological 
interests. Taking a proportionate assessment of the likely impacts and mitigation proposed it is 
considered that the delivery of needed housing is considered to represent an overriding public 
interest in this case, and there is no satisfactory alternative to the proposals with the mitigation 
that has been set out as part of the scheme. The proposals are considered to ensure a 
favourable conservation status to the protected species and as such a licence from Natural 
England is likely to be forthcoming as the derogation tests would be satisfied. The Council’s 
ecologist raises no objection subject to a condition. The proposals also detail enhancement 
features and on balance it is considered that the proposals would likely result in a broadly 
neutral impact moving towards modest enhancement in ecology terms. The proposals would 
accord with CP50 of the development plan which seeks conservation and where possible 
enhancement. 

Page 39



 

 

 
 Drainage: 

The applicant has stated that they intend to dispose of foul waste to the mains sewers. This 
approach accords with the hierarchy for disposal of foul waste and can be controlled by 
condition. 
 
The applicant has stated that they intend to dispose of surface water to soakaways. This 
accords with the hierarchy for disposal of surface water and can be controlled by condition. 
This is because, although no infiltration testing has been done, indicative details have been 
provided to show that such an approach can be accommodated within the building and 
landscaping layout detailed. This layout shows building regulation compliant distances to 
structures – there is no planning policy to support an approach over and above building 
regulations – and soakaways outside of tree root protection areas. The site is within flood 
zone 1 – the lowest fluvial flood risk and is not subject to any surface water flooding risk. 
 
The advice of the drainage officer is noted and it is noted that they consider a conditional 
control to be an acceptable option.  
 

 Highway safety and parking: 
The concerns of local residents and Bratton Parish Council are noted. The local roads cannot 
be considered to be congested or resulting in any existing highway safety hazard with normal 
and sensible driver behaviour. This is a proposal for 2 additional dwellings and is unlikely to 
result in any significant increase in traffic levels over the existing and no capacity issues.  
 
The proposal would add to the movements on the local road network and the junction with the 
B3098. However with reasonable behaviour and moreover, the limited movements associated 
with a small number of additional dwellings this poses no concerns. 
 
The existing access onto the public highway is considered to be substandard in terms of 
visibility to the north. It is an existing access though and the highway advice is that they are 
content that its use can be intensified, to the modest level detailed, without any significant 
highway harm. 
 
The new access proposed onto The Butts serves a single dwelling. Following negotiation this 
has been detailed with turning facilities within curtilage so as to allow access and egress in a 
forward gear. Reasonable visibility for vehicles egressing the site in a forward gear can be 
achieved. The road is unclassified, likely to be subject to low speeds below the 30mph speed 
restriction, and generally subject to very limited through traffic (local residents are well aware 
of the road character and likely to drive appropriately). In this context there would be no 
demonstrable highway safety concern from the new access. 
 
The proposals detail car parking to meet the minimum car parking standard and adequate 
space for vehicles to turn within the site before exiting from the existing access point. 
 
The proposals have been designed so as to provide adequate parking and reasonable 
measures to minimise any highway safety harm have been taken. Highway officers raise no 
objection to the final proposals. 
 

 Residential amenity: 
The proposals would maintain adequate distances between existing and proposed properties 
with no direct overlooking of gardens from a distance of less than 10 metres and habitable 
room windows by a distance of 21 metres. 
 
The proposals would not result in any significant loss of light, dominance or overshadowing. 
 

Page 40



 

 

The public objection in this regard is noted, but it is not considered that the proposals would 
cause any significant harm to residential amenity given the separation distances in this case.  
 
The proposals would retain a verdant landscape, which can of itself reduce the amenity of 
residential property if the trees are too close to habitable room windows. This has therefore 
been avoided within the design of the built form and landscaping to be retained and planted. 
Furthermore it would be a context and character that future buyers would be aware of. 
 

 Any other material considerations: 
Infrastructure – Any new dwelling has an impact on the services and infrastructure for the 
settlement and community area. Given the scale of this scheme this is a matter to be 
addressed through the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Additional dwellings are 
chargeable development. 
 
Rights of Way – There is a right of way (BRAT38) within the vicinity, however this will be 
unaffected by the proposals. 
 
Consultation – It is acknowledged that during phases of the statutory consultation process that 
the Council has experienced IT issues that have affected the ability of local people to view the 
submissions on-line. This is not acceptable. As such officers have been flexible and pragmatic 
about the dates on which comments may be received. The level of public response 
(proportionate to the scale of development) is indicative of the IT problems not significantly 
affecting the ability of the public to express their opinions and views. The IT issues have not 
affected the planning merits of the development. 
 
10. Conclusion (The Planning Balance) 
This is a proposal to replace a dwelling with 3 new dwellings in a low density arrangement that 
respects the spatial character of the village. This is in a location that is acceptable for further 
housing development in principle and would meet a housing need as defined by the most 
recent Housing Land Supply Statement and CP45 of the development plan.  
 
Information has been provided that illustrates that the existing dwelling is of limited heritage 
value and is beyond economic repair. The proposals would maintain the existing verdant 
context and have received no objection responses from the Council’s tree and conservation 
officers. The plans show units 1 and 2, which would be prominent within the street scene as 
having a satisfactory design in the context of the character and appearance of the 
conservation area at this point. Unit 3 would not be prominent and would have a more 
suburban form that accords with the context of the adjacent built form. Reasonable levels of 
separation to the adjacent listed building would be maintained; a dwelling that has not had any 
historic association with the application site. The proposal is therefore considered to cause no 
significant harm in terms of design, heritage or trees. 
 
The proposal would provide 3 habitable dwellings built to modern standards in terms of energy 
efficiency which would go some way to addressing local housing need by creating additional 
dwellings and which may in turn free up other housing types within the village. The proposals 
would make an efficient use of the land without compromising the verdant character of the site 
or the wider character and appearance of the conservation area. The proposals would provide 
adequate mitigation for ecology interests and any residual concern can be addressed through 
the use of conditions. 
 
The proposals would provide safe and convenient access; and car parking at a level that 
would accord with the current minimum car parking standards. The level of additional activity 
is considered to be modest and acceptable in terms of highway capacity and engineering. 
 

Page 41



 

 

The proposals would provide a good level of amenity for future occupiers of the development 
and protect the reasonable levels of amenity for the existing occupiers of neighbouring 
property. 
 
The local objection to these proposals is noted and has been given careful consideration. In 
light of this and the relevant development plan policies the application has been discussed 
and negotiated at length in the interests of being positive and proactive. In light of the revised 
plans – which reduce the number of units from 4 to 3 and provide an enhanced level of design 
and landscaping – it is noted objection remains, albeit more modest. This has again been 
considered carefully in the context of the development plan policies and a balance of the 
environmental, social and economic dimensions of sustainable development. On balance it is 
considered that the proposals would be a sustainable form of development and no significant 
harm to planning interests would occur. Any minor residual concerns can be 
minimised/addressed by conditions or is outweighed by the benefit of providing needed 
housing and making an efficient use of land. 
 
RECOMMENDATION Approve subject to conditions. 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

 

Town & Country Planning Act 1990 
 

Notification of Full Planning 

Application Reference Number: 17/07736/FUL 
 
 

 

Agent 
A Harlow & Son 
Park Gates 
Rood Ashton Park 
West Ashton 
BA14 6AT 
United Kingdom 

 

 

Applicant 
Mr Simon Ellinger 
c/o agent 
  

 

 

Particulars of Development:  Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 3 new 
dwellings with associated works including creation of a new vehicular access and 
landscaping. 
 

 

At: Oxford House, 12 The Butts, BRATTON, BA13 4SW 
 

 
 

In pursuance of its powers under the above Act, the Council hereby grant 
PLANNING PERMISSION for the above development to be carried out in 
accordance with the application and plans submitted (listed below). 
 
In accordance with paragraph 187 of the National Planning Policy Framework, 
Wiltshire Council has worked proactively to secure this development to improve 
the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. 

 
 

Subject to the following conditions: 
 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:  
 
AH201729 Sheet 1 of 7 by A Harlow & Son, dated 3rd April 2018; 
AH201729 Sheet 2 of 7 by A Harlow & Son, dated 20th March 2018; 
AH201729 Sheet 3 of 7 by A Harlow & Son, dated 3rd April 2018; 
AH201729 Sheet 4 of 7 by A Harlow & Son, dated 3rd April 2018; 
AH201729 Sheet 5 of 7 by A Harlow & Son, dated 20th March 2018; 
AH201729 Sheet 6 of 7 by A Harlow & Son, dated 1st February 2018; and 
AH201729 Sheet 7 of 7 by A Harlow & Son, dated 1st February 2018. 
 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

Page 43



 

 

3 Notwithstanding the hereby approved plans, no development above slab level shall 
commence on site until the exact details and samples of the materials to be used for 
the external walls and roofs have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to 
be considered prior to granting planning permission and/or the matter is required to 
be agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order 
that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, in the interests of visual 
amenity and the character and appearance of the area. 
 

4 No development above slab level shall commence on site until details of all eaves, 
verges, windows (including head, sill and window reveal details), doors, rainwater 
goods, chimneys, dormers and canopies have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to 
be considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order 
that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, in the interests of visual 
amenity and the character and appearance of the area. 
 

5 No development shall commence on site until a scheme of hard and soft landscaping 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the 
details of which shall include:- 
· a detailed planting specification showing all plant species, supply and planting 
sizes and planting densities;  
· finished levels and contours;  
· means of enclosure;  
· car park layouts;  
· all hard and soft surfacing materials;  
· minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse and 
other storage units, signs, lighting etc);  
· proposed and existing functional services above and below ground (e.g. 
drainage, power, communications, cables, pipelines etc indicating lines, manholes, 
supports etc);  
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to 
be considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order 
that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure a satisfactory 
landscaped setting for the development and the protection of existing important 
landscape features. 
 

6 All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried 
out in the first planting and seeding season following the first occupation of the 
building(s) or the completion of the development whichever is the sooner.  All shrubs, 
trees and hedge planting shall be maintained free from weeds and shall be protected 
from damage by vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of ten 
years, die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced 
in the next planting season with others of a similar size and species, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  All hard landscaping shall also be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of any part 

Page 44



 

 

of the development or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the development and the 
protection of existing important landscape/ecological features. 
 

7 No demolition, site clearance or development shall commence on site until an 
Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) prepared by an arboricultural consultant 
providing comprehensive details of construction works in relation to trees has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. All works shall 
subsequently be carried out in strict accordance with the approved details. In 
particular, the method statement must provide the following:  
* A specification for protective fencing to trees during both demolition and 
construction phases which complies with BS5837:2012 and a plan indicating the 
alignment of the protective fencing; 
* A specification for scaffolding and ground protection within tree protection zones in 
accordance with British Standard 5837: 2012;  
* A schedule of tree works conforming to British Standard 3998: 2010;  
* Details of general arboricultural matters such as the area for storage of materials, 
concrete mixing and use of fires;  
* Plans and particulars showing the siting of the service and piping infrastructure;  
* Details of the works requiring arboricultural supervision to be carried out by the 
developer’s arboricultural consultant, including details of the frequency of supervisory 
visits and procedure for notifying the Local Planning Authority of the findings of the 
supervisory visits;  
* In order that trees to be retained on-site are not damaged during the construction 
works and to ensure that as far as possible the work is carried no demolition, site 
clearance or development should commence on site until a pre-commencement site 
meeting has been held, attended by the developer’s arboricultural consultant, the 
designated site foreman and a representative from the Local Planning Authority, to 
discuss details of the proposed work and working procedures.  
* Subsequently and until the completion of all site works, site visits should be carried 
out on a regular basis by the developer’s arboricultural consultant. A report detailing 
the results of site supervision and any necessary remedial works undertaken or 
required should then be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. Any approved 
remedial works shall subsequently be carried out under strict supervision by the 
arboricultural consultant following that approval.  
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to 
be considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order 
that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, in order that the Local 
Planning Authority may be satisfied that the trees to be retained on and adjacent to 
the site will not be damaged during the construction works and to ensure that as far 
as possible the work is carried out in accordance with current best practice and 
section 197 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

8 No development shall commence on site until a full ‘No-Dig’ specification for works 
within the root protection area/canopies of protected and retained trees has been 
submitted and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The construction 
of the surface shall be carried out in accordance with approved details and thereafter 
retained. 
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to 
be considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be 

Page 45



 

 

agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order 
that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, in order to protect trees 
on and adjacent to the site which are to be retained with surfacing placed near to or 
over the trees root system.  
 

9 No development shall commence on site until a scheme for the discharge of surface 
water from the site (including surface water from the accesses/driveways), 
incorporating sustainable drainage details, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling shall be first occupied until 
surface water drainage to serve that part of the development has been constructed in 
accordance with the approved scheme.  
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to 
be considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order 
that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure that the 
development can be adequately drained. 
 

10 No development shall commence on site until details of the works for the disposal of 
sewerage including the point of connection to the existing public sewer have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling 
shall be first occupied until the approved sewerage details to serve that part of the 
development have been fully implemented in accordance with the approved plans. 
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to 
be considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order 
that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure that the 
proposal is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage and does not increase the 
risk of flooding or pose a risk to public health or the environment. 
 

11 No development shall commence on site (including any works of demolition), until a 
Construction Method Statement, which shall include the following:   
a) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;  
b) loading and unloading of plant and materials;  
c) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;  
d) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;  
e) wheel washing facilities;  
f) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during demolition;  
g) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works; 
h) measures for the protection of the natural environment; and 
i) hours of construction, including deliveries; 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved Statement shall be complied with in full throughout the construction period. 
The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the 
approved construction method statement. 
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to 
be considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order 
that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to minimise detrimental 
effects to the neighbouring amenities, the amenities of the area in general, detriment 
to the natural environment through the risks of pollution and dangers to highway 

Page 46



 

 

safety, during the construction phase. 
 

12 No plot shall be first occupied until the access, turning area, visibility splays, parking 
spaces and garaging to serve the plot have been completed in accordance with the 
details shown on the approved plans. The areas shall be maintained for those 
purposes at all times thereafter. 
 
REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 
 

13 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or 
amending that Order with or without modification), the garages hereby permitted shall 
not be converted to habitable accommodation. 
 
REASON: To secure the retention of adequate parking provision, in the interests of 
highway safety. 
 

14 The proposed development shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the Bat 
Mitigation and Compensation Plan (Becci Smith Ecological Consultant, April 2018), 
Reptile Mitigation and Compensation Report (Sedgehill Ecology Services, Updated 
February 2018), Section 8 of the Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey and Daytime Bat 
Inspection Survey Report (Sedgehill Ecology Services, Updated February 2018) and 
Drawing No AH2017/29 Sheet 1 to 7. The development shall be carried out with 
liaison with, and supervision by a suitably qualified, licensed and competent 
ecological consultant. The compensatory bat roosts, reptile habitats, and ecological 
enhancements including for nesting birds, shall be retained as available for use by 
bats, reptiles and nesting birds for the lifetime of the development. 
 
REASON: To ensure appropriate mitigation, compensation and enhancement for 
protected species; and compliance with The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017, the National Planning Policy Framework, the NERC Act 2006 and 
Core Policy 50 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy (adopted January 2015). 
 
 

  
INFORMATIVE:   
Please note that Council offices do not have the facility to receive material samples. 
Please deliver material samples to site and inform the Planning Officer where they 
are to be found. 
 

 INFORMATIVE: 
The applicant is advised that the development hereby approved may represent 
chargeable development under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 
(as amended) and Wiltshire Council's CIL Charging Schedule. If the development is 
determined to be liable for CIL, a Liability Notice will be issued notifying you of the 
amount of CIL payment due. If an Additional Information Form has not already been 
submitted, please submit it now so that we can determine the CIL liability. In addition, 
you may be able to claim exemption or relief, in which case, please submit the 
relevant form so that we can determine your eligibility. The CIL Commencement 
Notice and Assumption of Liability must be submitted to Wiltshire Council prior to 
commencement of development.  Should development commence prior to the CIL 
Liability Notice being issued by the local planning authority, any CIL exemption or 
relief will not apply and full payment will be required in full and with immediate effect. 
Should you require further information or to download the CIL forms please refer to 
the Council's Website 

Page 47



 

 

www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructur
elevy.  

 
 
Signed 

 

Tim Martienssen 

Director 

Economic Development and Planning  Dated: 13 April 2018

Page 48

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy


 

 

CASE OFFICER'S REPORT 

 
Application Reference: 18/05492/VAR 
Date of Inspection: 25 August, 6 September and 5 

December 2017; and 3 July 2018 
Date site notice posted: 3 July 2018 
Date of press notice: 13 July 2018 

 
11. Purpose of Report 
The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of the 
development plan and other material considerations and to recommend that the application be 
approved subject to conditions. 

 
12. Report Summary 
This report will set out a description of the site, the nature of the proposals, the consultation 
responses received, the relevant policies and material planning considerations, and provide 
an assessment of the planning merits which have led to a recommendation for planning 
permission being granted subject to conditions. 
 
13. Site Description 
The application site is the residential curtilage of Oxford House, 12 the Butts, Bratton. It is 
occupied by an early 20th century dwelling that is in a dilapidated condition. The dwelling is 
located to the west of the site with a principle elevation that faces north, so that it is sited 
perpendicular to the highway. It has traditional Victorian massing and proportions with bay 
windows flanking a porched entrance. It has been subject to 2-storey extension at its rear 
dating from the mid-19th century. It has been subject to renovations from circa 1980s which 
replaced the roof with concrete tiles and pebble dashed the exterior walls. 
 
The site has access onto the Butts at its northernmost point, adjacent to the access for the 
neighbouring property. The access leads to garages/outbuildings of varying form including a 
clay tiled pitched roof structure adjacent the road and flat roof garages behind. 
 

 
 
Recent removal of trees and tree management has taken place since the 2017 inspections. 
Two mature and prominent Walnut trees have been retained with a number of other smaller 
and varied species. The understorey of fruit tree specimens under and around these has been 
removed. The verdant character at the site remains and the management has generated 
opportunity for the retaining and new trees.  
 

Page 49



 

 

2 Sycamore trees and a Robinia pseudoacacia are subject to a group preservation order 
(09/00039/GRP) in the south east corner of the site adjacent to the access road serving 
Reeves Piece. These have been retained. A third Sycamore that formed part of the TPO has 
been felled following approval (14/09327/TPO). 
 

 
 
To the south east of the application site is a development of 5 detached properties on land 
that has formed part of the extended historic curtilage of 12 The Butts. These are of a 
suburban form, but form a part of the designated conservation area. To the south and west 
are a range of properties including the non-designated heritage asset of The Oratory and mid-
twentieth century housing on the opposite side of The Butts. To the north is the Grade II listed 
10 The Butts which is set behind its curtilage listed 2-storey outbuilding which fronts onto The 
Butts. 
 

 
 
The site is not subject to any other special designations. The site is located within flood zone 1 
– the lowest fluvial flood risk. There is no elevated surface water flood risk, but there is a 
general record of potential ground water flooding that covers much of western Wiltshire. 
 
There are records of kites and bats in the vicinity and the originally submitted ecology 
information sets out evidence of bats within the dwelling and further potential across the site 
for a range of bat species, nesting birds, reptiles, and hedgehogs. 
  
14. Planning History 
W/92/00081/FUL – Erection of four detached chalets each with a detached double garage - 
Approved December 1992 
 
W/13/00346/TCA – Crown reduce and reshape Sycamore Tree by 30% and crown lift to 4m - 
Approve April 2013 

Page 50



 

 

 
17/07747/106 - Modification of existing S106 relating to planning permission W/92/00081 to 
remove land originally included on original application - Approved September 2017 
 
17/07736/FUL – Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 3 new dwellings with 
associated works including creation of a new vehicular access and landscaping. – Approved 
April 2018. 
 
18/02524/TPO - T1 - T32 -Various Works as per schedule - – Approved April 2018. 
 
Adjacent land: 
W/06/03775/TCA – To fell a Sycamore tree - Approved January 2007 
 
14/09327/TPO – Fell 3 Sycamore trees- TPO W/09/00039 - Approved November 2014 
 
15. The Proposal 
This is a proposal to vary planning permission 17/07736/FUL. Fundamentally it remains the 
same, to demolish the existing dwelling and erect three dwellings. However this variation 
application seeks to make minor material amendments to all three dwellings and provides 
additional details in terms of drainage and landscaping.  
 

 
 
The changes to plot 1 involve the removal of a proposed chimney and utilising patio doors 
instead of the approved bi-folding doors. 
 
The changes to plot 2 involve the relocation of a chimney to the south elevation and 
introduction of 3 windows (2 at ground floor to serve a living room, and 1 at first floor to serve 
an en-suite bathroom). The proposal would enlarge the footprint of the ‘main’ part of the 
dwelling by circa 500mm, resulting in a slight increase in height. Further the rear 'extension' 
would project an additional 900mm at the rear, resulting in a slight increase in height. The 
proposal details the enlargement of the garage (400mm in depth and 600mm in width) and 
changes to the fenestration on the north elevation (the only additional opening being for a 
bathroom). 

Page 51



 

 

 
The changes to Plot 3 involve the removal of the bonnet hip details to the roof form for 
standard gable ends. The timber cladding is now detailed as cedar half lap and additional 
information on rainwater goods have now been provided. 
 
The proposal has been submitted with some details of the landscaping scheme showing 
retained trees and a number of details on the proposed trees and planting. Some trees and 
hedging appears as indicative details only. Ecological mitigation is detailed still and drainage 
is now detailed to show routes of and point of connection for foul flows to the mains in The 
Butts. The plans show locations of routes to soakaways for drives and dwellings. Further 
information in relation to soakaway testing has also been provided. 
 
16. Local Planning Policy 
Local context: 
Wiltshire Core Strategy (development plan) 
CP1, CP2, CP3, CP32, CP41, CP45, CP50, CP51, CP57, CP58, CP60, CP61, CP62, CP64, 
CP67 and appendix D’s ‘saved’ policy U1a of the West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 
(2004). 
 
Wiltshire Local Transport Plan 2011-2026 Car Parking Strategy (LTP3) 
PS6. 
 
Wiltshire’s Community Infrastructure Levy – Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning 
Document (Planning Obligations SPD) 
 
Wiltshire’s Community Infrastructure Levy - Charging Schedule (Charging Schedule) 
 
Wiltshire’s Community Infrastructure Levy - Regulation 123 List (123 List) 
 
National Context: 
National Planning Policy Framework 2018 (Framework) 
 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
 
Section 66 of the Planning (Listed building and Conservation area) Act 1990 states that the 
local planning authority has a duty to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving the 
building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it 
possesses. 
 
Section 72 of the Planning (Listed building and Conservation area) Act 1990 states that the 
local planning authority has a duty to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving and 
enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area. 
 
17. Summary of consultation responses 
Bratton Parish Council: No comments received. 
 
Wessex Water: As per original comments. 
 
Wiltshire Council’s conservation officer: No comments received. 
 
Wiltshire Council’s drainage officer: Requests further collated details. 
 
Wiltshire Council’s ecology officer: No comments received. 
 
Wiltshire Council’s highways officer: No objection. 

Page 52



 

 

 
Wiltshire Council’s rights of way officer: No comments received. 
 
Wiltshire Council’s tree officer: No comments received. 
 
18. Publicity 
This consisted of neighbour letters, the erection of a site notice, a Wiltshire Times advert and 
publication on the Council’s website. 2 letters of objection were received which may be 
summarised as follows: 

 Suggests amendment to landscape species; and 

 Does not wish to see any further amendments. 
 
19. Planning Considerations 

 Principle of development: 
The principle of development has been established and set out within the original planning 
permission’s delegated officer report. Since that time there have been some changes in 
circumstances. The government has published a revised version of the Framework and now 
there is an extant planning approval for the demolition and erection of 3 dwellings. This 
variation application is a matter for detailed consideration. The application has been assessed 
in light of this revised circumstance. 
 

 Changes to the site layout: 
The additional details of landscaping are welcomed, however there remains some paucity of 
information with some details remaining indicative. As such this remains a matter to be 
controlled by condition. 
 
The details of foul drainage are welcomed and subject to implementation this poses no 
concerns. It accords with the hierarchy of using mains drainage for foul waste as the 
preference.  
 
A condition can be imposed to ensure the point of connection is applied and separate 
agreement for that connection with Wessex Water is the responsibility of the developer. 
 
In terms of the surface water drainage the details are welcomed and are acceptable in 
principle. They again accord with the hierarchy of disposal for surface waters. The location of 
routes and soakaways appears to be satisfactory and has regard to building control 
requirements (5m easements) and tree constraints. The size of soakaways has been 
calculated based on BRE365 testing and is therefore acceptable. The holes to carry out this 
were dug to 2m without finding groundwater and so it is unlikely that groundwater flooding of 
the soakaways would occur. The drainage request for 10m clearance is noted but there is no 
evidence that this is necessary over and above building control requirements and would result 
in detrimental impacts to trees. This is therefore not supported. Implementation of the 
submitted details can be conditioned. 
 

 Changes to Plot 1: 
The alterations to plot 1 pose no planning concerns whatsoever. The removal of the chimney 
makes no material difference to the design of the dwelling or its relationship to heritage 
assets. The change to the rear patio / bi-fold doors pose no planning concerns.  
 

 Changes to Plot 2: 
This is the plot that has been subject to the most notable changes, although the alterations 
remain modest. The dwelling would be slightly enlarged but this poses no significant planning 
concerns, it would remain a proportionate and scaled building to the context and would not 
cause overshadowing to neighbour property.  

Page 53



 

 

 
The alterations to the fenestration would not result in any increased overlooking that would 
cause harm to neighbouring amenity. 
 

 Changes to Plot 3: 
The removal of the hipped detail and replacement with gable ends is arguably a regrettable 
change to the design of the building. However this is a subjective judgement and ultimately 
this dwelling remains of a similar suburban design and the alteration would have no 
demonstrable negative impact on planning interests.  
 

 Any other material considerations: 
The site wide changes would result in no harmful impact on heritage assets having regard to 
the statutory duties and the Framework. 
 
The neighbour concern over species of box hedge and venerability to disease is noted. Any 
approved landscaping would be subject to 5 year protection and replanting if necessary. 
 
The neighbouring concern over incremental revisions eroding the quality of the scheme is 
noted. It is not the case to date, but ought to be borne in mind through discharge of conditions 
and any further application if they are indeed submitted. 
 
There are no further material planning matters raised by the proposed variations to the extant 
planning approval.  
 
20. Conclusion (The Planning Balance) 
The conclusions on this variation application remain as per the original approval. This is a 
proposal to replace a dwelling with 3 new dwellings in a low density arrangement that respects 
the spatial character of the village. This is in a location that is acceptable for further housing 
development in principle and would meet a housing need as defined by the most recent 
Housing Land Supply Statement and CP45 of the development plan.  
 
Information has been provided that illustrates that the existing dwelling is of limited heritage 
value and is beyond economic repair. The proposals would maintain the existing verdant 
context. The plans continue to show units 1 and 2, which would be prominent within the street 
scene as having a satisfactory design in the context of the character and appearance of the 
conservation area at this point. Unit 3 would not be prominent and would have a more 
suburban form that accords with the context of the adjacent built form. Reasonable levels of 
separation to the adjacent listed building would be maintained; a dwelling that has not had any 
historic association with the application site. The proposal is therefore considered to cause no 
significant harm in terms of design, heritage or trees. 
 
The proposal would provide 3 habitable dwellings built to modern standards in terms of energy 
efficiency which would go some way to addressing local housing need by creating additional 
dwellings and which may in turn free up other housing types within the village. The proposals 
would make an efficient use of the land without compromising the verdant character of the site 
or the wider character and appearance of the conservation area. The proposals would provide 
adequate mitigation for ecology interests and any residual concern can be addressed through 
the use of conditions. 
 
The proposals would provide safe and convenient access; and car parking at a level that 
would accord with the current minimum car parking standards. The level of additional activity 
is considered to be modest and acceptable in terms of highway capacity and engineering. 
 

Page 54



 

 

The proposals would provide a good level of amenity for future occupiers of the development 
and protect the reasonable levels of amenity for the existing occupiers of neighbouring 
property. 
 
The original local objection to these proposals has been considered and the contemporaneous 
comments (much reduced) noted and addressed above. Careful consideration in the context 
of the development plan policies and a balance of the environmental, social and economic 
dimensions of sustainable development has been had. On balance it is considered that the 
proposals would be a sustainable form of development and no significant harm to planning 
interests would occur. Any minor residual concerns can be minimised/addressed by conditions 
or is outweighed by the benefit of providing needed housing and making an efficient use of 
land. 
 
RECOMMENDATION Approve subject to conditions. 
 
 

Page 55



 

 

 
     

Town & Country Planning Act 1990 
 

Notice of Planning Permission for Variation/Non-Compliance with a condition 

imposed on an earlier permission 

Application Reference Number: 18/05492/VAR 
 

 

Agent 
A Harlow & Son 
Park Gates 
Rood Ashton Park 
West Ashton 
BA14 6AT 
United Kingdom 
 

 

Applicant 
Mr Simon Ellinger 
c/o agent 
  
 

 

Particulars of Development: Variation of condition 2 on 17/07736/FUL to allow for changes 
to the design of the proposed houses. 
 

 

At: Oxford House, 12 The Butts, Bratton, BA13 4SW 
 

 
In pursuance of their powers under the above Act, the Council hereby GRANT 
PLANNING PERMISSION for variation or non-compliance with a condition or conditions 
imposed on an earlier permission in accordance with the application and plans 
submitted by you. 
 
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework, Wiltshire 
Council has worked proactively to secure this development to improve the economic, 
social and environmental conditions of the area. 
 
Subject to compliance with any condition(s) specified hereunder:- 

 

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before 13 April 2021. 
 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:  
 
AH201729 Location Plan by A Harlow & Son, dated 20th March 2018; 
AH201729 VAR Sheet 1 of 5 by A Harlow & Son, dated 20th July 2018; 
AH201729 VAR Sheet 2 of 5 by A Harlow & Son, dated 6th June 2018; 
AH201729 VAR Sheet 3 of 5 by A Harlow & Son, dated 6th June 2018; 
AH201729 VAR Sheet 4 of 5 by A Harlow & Son, dated 6th June 2018; 
AH201729 VAR Sheet 5 of 5 by A Harlow & Son, dated 6th June 2018; 
AH201729 Sheet 5 of 7 by A Harlow & Son, dated 20th March 2018; and 
AH201729 Sheet 6 of 7 by A Harlow & Son, dated 1st February 2018. 
 

Page 56



 

 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

3 Notwithstanding the hereby approved plans, no development above slab level shall 
commence on site until the exact details and samples of the materials to be used for 
the external walls and roofs have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details. 
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to be 
considered prior to granting planning permission and/or the matter is required to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order that 
the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, in the interests of visual 
amenity and the character and appearance of the area. 
 

4 No development above slab level shall commence on site until details of all eaves, 
verges, windows (including head, sill and window reveal details), doors, rainwater 
goods, chimneys, dormers and canopies have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to be 
considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order that 
the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, in the interests of visual 
amenity and the character and appearance of the area. 
 

5 No development shall commence on site until a scheme of hard and soft landscaping 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the 
details of which shall include:- 
· a detailed planting specification showing all plant species, supply and planting 
sizes and planting densities;  
· finished levels and contours;  
· means of enclosure;  
· car park layouts;  
· all hard and soft surfacing materials;  
· minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse and other 
storage units, signs, lighting etc);  
· proposed and existing functional services above and below ground (e.g. 
drainage, power, communications, cables, pipelines etc indicating lines, manholes, 
supports etc);  
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to be 
considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order that 
the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to ensure a satisfactory 
landscaped setting for the development and the protection of existing important 
landscape features. 
 

6 All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried 
out in the first planting and seeding season following the first occupation of the 
building(s) or the completion of the development whichever is the sooner.  All shrubs, 
trees and hedge planting shall be maintained free from weeds and shall be protected 
from damage by vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of ten 
years, die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced 
in the next planting season with others of a similar size and species, unless otherwise 

Page 57



 

 

agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  All hard landscaping shall also be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of any part 
of the development or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority. 
 
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the development and the 
protection of existing important landscape/ecological features. 
 

7 No demolition, site clearance or development shall commence on site until an 
Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) prepared by an arboricultural consultant 
providing comprehensive details of construction works in relation to trees has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. All works shall 
subsequently be carried out in strict accordance with the approved details. In particular, 
the method statement must provide the following:  
* A specification for protective fencing to trees during both demolition and construction 
phases which complies with BS5837:2012 and a plan indicating the alignment of the 
protective fencing; 
* A specification for scaffolding and ground protection within tree protection zones in 
accordance with British Standard 5837: 2012;  
* A schedule of tree works conforming to British Standard 3998: 2010;  
* Details of general arboricultural matters such as the area for storage of materials, 
concrete mixing and use of fires;  
* Plans and particulars showing the siting of the service and piping infrastructure;  
* Details of the works requiring arboricultural supervision to be carried out by the 
developer’s arboricultural consultant, including details of the frequency of supervisory 
visits and procedure for notifying the Local Planning Authority of the findings of the 
supervisory visits;  
* In order that trees to be retained on-site are not damaged during the construction 
works and to ensure that as far as possible the work is carried no demolition, site 
clearance or development should commence on site until a pre-commencement site 
meeting has been held, attended by the developer’s arboricultural consultant, the 
designated site foreman and a representative from the Local Planning Authority, to 
discuss details of the proposed work and working procedures.  
* Subsequently and until the completion of all site works, site visits should be carried 
out on a regular basis by the developer’s arboricultural consultant. A report detailing 
the results of site supervision and any necessary remedial works undertaken or 
required should then be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. Any approved 
remedial works shall subsequently be carried out under strict supervision by the 
arboricultural consultant following that approval.  
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to be 
considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order that 
the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, in order that the Local 
Planning Authority may be satisfied that the trees to be retained on and adjacent to the 
site will not be damaged during the construction works and to ensure that as far as 
possible the work is carried out in accordance with current best practice and section 
197 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

8 No development shall commence on site until a full ‘No-Dig’ specification for works 
within the root protection area/canopies of protected and retained trees has been 
submitted and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The construction of 
the surface shall be carried out in accordance with approved details and thereafter 
retained. 
 

Page 58



 

 

REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to be 
considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order that 
the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, in order to protect trees on 
and adjacent to the site which are to be retained with surfacing placed near to or over 
the trees root system. 
 

9 No dwelling shall be first occupied until surface water drainage to serve that part of the 
development has been constructed in accordance with the hereby approved plans.  
 
REASON: To ensure that the development can be adequately drained. 
 

10 No dwelling shall be first occupied until the approved sewerage details to serve that 
part of the development have been fully implemented in accordance with the hereby 
approved plans. 
 
REASON: In order that the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to 
ensure that the proposal is provided with a satisfactory means of drainage and does 
not increase the risk of flooding or pose a risk to public health or the environment. 
 

11 No development shall commence on site (including any works of demolition), until a 
Construction Method Statement, which shall include the following:   
a) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;  
b) loading and unloading of plant and materials;  
c) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;  
d) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays 
and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;  
e) wheel washing facilities;  
f) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during demolition;  
g) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 
construction works; 
h) measures for the protection of the natural environment; and 
i) hours of construction, including deliveries; 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved Statement shall be complied with in full throughout the construction period. 
The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the 
approved construction method statement. 
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this matter to be 
considered prior to granting planning permission and the matter is required to be 
agreed with the Local Planning Authority before development commences in order that 
the development is undertaken in an acceptable manner, to minimise detrimental 
effects to the neighbouring amenities, the amenities of the area in general, detriment to 
the natural environment through the risks of pollution and dangers to highway safety, 
during the construction phase. 
 

12 No plot shall be first occupied until the access, turning area, visibility splays, parking 
spaces and garaging to serve the plot have been completed in accordance with the 
details shown on the approved plans. The areas shall be maintained for those 
purposes at all times thereafter. 
 
REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 
 

13 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting or 

Page 59



 

 

amending that Order with or without modification), the garages hereby permitted shall 
not be converted to habitable accommodation. 
 
REASON: To secure the retention of adequate parking provision, in the interests of 
highway safety. 
 

14 The proposed development shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the Bat 
Mitigation and Compensation Plan (Becci Smith Ecological Consultant, April 2018), 
Reptile Mitigation and Compensation Report (Sedgehill Ecology Services, Updated 
February 2018), Section 8 of the Extended Phase 1 Habitat Survey and Daytime Bat 
Inspection Survey Report (Sedgehill Ecology Services, Updated February 2018) and 
Drawing AH201729 VAR Sheet 1 of 5. The development shall be carried out in liaison 
with and supervision by a suitably qualified, licensed and competent ecological 
consultant. The compensatory bat roosts, reptile habitats, and ecological 
enhancements including for nesting birds, shall be retained as available for use by 
bats, reptiles and nesting birds for the lifetime of the development. 
 
REASON: To ensure appropriate mitigation, compensation and enhancement for 
protected species; and compliance with The Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2017, the National Planning Policy Framework, the NERC Act 2006 and 
Core Policy 50 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy (adopted January 2015). 
 

 INFORMATIVE:   
Please note that Council offices do not have the facility to receive material samples. 
Please deliver material samples to site and inform the Planning Officer where they are 
to be found. 
 

 INFORMATIVE TO APPLICANT: 
The applicant is advised that the development hereby approved may represent 
chargeable development under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 
(as amended) and Wiltshire Council's CIL Charging Schedule. If the development is 
determined to be liable for CIL, a Liability Notice will be issued notifying you of the 
amount of CIL payment due. If an Additional Information Form has not already been 
submitted, please submit it now so that we can determine the CIL liability. In addition, 
you may be able to claim exemption or relief, in which case, please submit the relevant 
form so that we can determine your eligibility. The CIL Commencement Notice and 
Assumption of Liability must be submitted to Wiltshire Council prior to commencement 
of development.  Should development commence prior to the CIL Liability Notice being 
issued by the local planning authority, any CIL exemption or relief will not apply and full 
payment will be required in full and with immediate effect. Should you require further 
information or to download the CIL forms please refer to the Council's Website 
www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurel
evy.  

 

Signed 

 

Tim Martienssen 

Director 

Economic Development and Planning    Dated: 17 August 2018 
 

Page 60

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningpolicy/communityinfrastructurelevy


 

 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Planning Appeals and Updates
	7a 18-11871-FUL - Oxford House, 12 The Butts, Bratton
	18.11871.FUL - Oxford House 12 The Butts Bratton - Location Plan


